A Conversation with Muin al-Taher

By Elias Khoury and Michel Nawfal

“Mouin al-Taher: Epics of Steadfastness in Lebanon”.

Dirasat Filastiniya, no. 94, Summer 2013 (pp. 85-117).

Translated from Arabic by Joelle Giappesi, 2018.

Edited and abbreviated by some members of the Norwegian Palestine Committee, 2020.




Understanding the Palestinian-Lebanese resistance

This is an edited and abbreviated version of the English translation of the complete interview which has
been published in Arabic. We have added some information about people and places for readers who are
not familiar with local geography, or with the history of the region during the 1970s and 80s.

Eldbjerg Holte, Peder Martin Lysestel, @yvind Sagedal and Ebba Wergeland
Oslo, October 2020

Published by Palestinakomiteen i Norge

October 2022

ISBN 978-82-991592-5-8 (print); 978-82-991592-6-5 (ePub)
Printed at X-ide, Larenskog

FURTHER READING

Dot-Pouillard, Nicolas. De Pekin a Teheran, en regardant
vers Jerusalem. La singuliere conversion a I'islamisme
des “Maos du Fateh”, Cahiers de I'Institut Religioscope
(2) 2008. https://halshs.archives-ouvertes.fr/ hal-
shs-00674201/document (Accessed January 2022).

For PLO in Lebanon, Letters from the medical teams to
PLO 1976-78. [Norwegian. For PLO i Libanon.

Brev fra Palestinakomiteens helseteam 1976-78.]
The Norwegian Palestine Committee, Oslo 1979.
https:// www.nb.no/nbsok/nb/314cc5445eebaaea2bd-
93197¢b263740 (Accessed January 2022).

Fosse, Erik. Med livet i hendene. Gyldendal, Oslo 2013.

Genet, Jean. Un captif amoureux [Prisoner of Love].
Gallimard, Paris 1986.

Hanf, Theodor. Coexistence in wartime Lebanon. IB Tau-
rus, London 1993.

Khalidi, Rashid. The hundred years war on Palestine. A
history of settler colonialism and resistance 1917-2017.
Metropolitan Books New York 2020.

Mernier, Franck. Christophe Varvin (ed). Memoires de
guerres au Liban (1975-1990). Sindbad, Actes Sud,
Paris/Beirut 2010.

Picture on front page: Young men from Bint Jbeil who
confronted the Israeli invasion March 14 to March 16,
1978, in locations like Masoud Hill and Shalaboun Hill.
The group was led by Martyr Hassan Sharara (front row,
second from left). (Unknown photographer.)

Meier, Daniel. Shaping Lebanon’s borderlands. IB Taurus,
London 2016.

Sayigh, Yezid. Armed struggle and the search for state.
Oxford University Press, New York 1997.

Sayigh, Rosemary. Too Many Enemies. Zed Books, Lon-
don 1994.

Sing, Manfred. Brothers in arms. How Palestinian
Maoists turned Jihadists. Die Welt des Islams (51)
2011, p. 1-44. https://www.jstor.org/stable/41105368
(Accessed January 2022).

The Palestinian Revolution. A bilingual Arabic/English
online learning resource that explores Palestinian
revolutionary practice and thought from the Nakba
of 1948 to the siege of Beirut in 1982. http://learn-
palestine. politics.ox.ac.uk/ or https://journals.openedi-
tion.org/aldebaran/7586?lang=en (Accessed January
2022).

Tveit, Odd Karsten. Nederlag. Israels krig i Libanon.
Cappelen, Oslo 1985.



11

24

32

42

47
51

CONTENTS

Foreword: To remember

Fatah and the Independent Leftist Movement

Fatah, the movement of the Palestinian people. The battle for dignity in response to the setback of June 1967.
The events of Black September and the move to Lebanon. Building a new left stream. The battle of Beirut
1973. A radical discussion with Yasser Arafat.

Setting a military form to the political frame

A general Marxist culture. A political nucleus for an Arab revolutionary project. The link between field
leadership and conceptualization. The battle of Bhamdoun with the Syrian army. The brigade’s move to the
South. The challenges of positioning in Bint Jbeil. The importance of the Battle of Maroun al Ras.

The Israeli invasion of 1978 and the dialog with the Amal movement

The Dalal al-Moghraby operation and the Israeli invasion. Large losses in Bint Jbeil. Strict rules of revolu-
tionary behavior. The Iraq-Iran war and the rise of the Amal movement. Extension of the safe base in Leba-
non. Armed clashes in the South 1980-1982. The settling in the Tire area. The political and social activities
to construct a revolutionary theory.

Openness to Islam and the invasion of 1982

The rise of Shiite Islam. The restriction of the Palestinian presence. The moving to the Nabatiyeh area. The
fortification of Beaufort Castle. Fighting against Israeli incursions. The battle of Beaufort Castle. Withdrawal
and fighting in Mount Lebanon. The capture of Israeli soldiers.

The split in the PLO. The Israeli withdrawal from the mountain
Trying to prevent the split in the PLO. Military positioning in the mountain. Retreating in Tripoli. The war
of the camps and the martyrdom of Ali Abu Tawgq.

Glossary. People mentioned in the interview. Places mentioned in the interview

Map over South Lebanon



FOREWORD: TO REMEMBER

This book seeks to recall and document a pioneer-
ing experience in the Arab and Palestinian struggle,
through a dynamic dialogue with Muin al Taher. The
book’s content is closer to a critical review of the expe-
rience of the Student Brigade, which was later to be-
come a battalion in the Palestinian Assifah forces. The
story begins with the biography of the last leader of the
Student Brigade, Muin al-Taher, a model for a genera-
tion of young people who were involved in revolution-
ary guerrilla action during the rise of the Palestinian
National Liberation Movement, following the defeat
of June 1967 and the battle of Karameh (the Battle for
Dignity) of 1968, which turned Fatah into a popular
organization that attracted volunteers from all over the
Arab world. The dialog also addresses the experience
of Jordan, where some Palestinian extremist theories
and practices led to clashes with the Jordanian regime.
As a result, the resistance lost its base in Jordan and
moved its leadership to Lebanon.

In light of the critical review of the bitter experi-
ence in Jordan, some leftist militants, such as Munir
Shafiq and Naji Alloush, emerged to foster an inde-
pendent left-wing movement, which brought a new
spirit to Fatah’s student movement and gave birth to
the Student Brigade. Thanks to its activities against
the Zionist enemy, the brigade attracted a number of
groups of the leftist Lebanese revolutionary wing to
help in reconstructing villages in southern Lebanon
destroyed by Israel. It also took critical positions to-
wards the Palestinian political leadership, mainly to
oppose the policy of settlement with Israel and reject
the ten-point program adopted by the PLO in 1974.

The main concern of the Student Brigade, on the
intellectual side, was to construct a theory that would
benefit from the Vietnamese and Chinese experienc-
es for the Arab Revolution, including the Palestinian
Revolution. Munir Shafiq (Abu Fadi) played a distin-
guished role in this field through his writings, espe-
cially through his book “About the contradiction and
practice in the Palestinian Revolution.” The brigade
included a large number of Arabs, Iranians, Turks and
some Western leftists.

The brigade fought against the right-wing militias
in Beirut and Mount Lebanon, and many martyrs fell,
especially in the battles of Mount Sannine (1976). In
the aftermath of the heroic battle of Bhamdoun with
the Syrian Forces (1976), the Student Brigade regained
its basic focus on confronting the Zionist enemy and
emerged from the quagmire of the internal Lebanese
conflict. And so it went to the city of Bint Jbeil in
southern Lebanon to resist the Israeli-backed militia of
Saad Haddad. The Student Brigade joined the Assifah
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forces and took the name of the Jarmaq' Battalion, in
order to be part of the Palestinian political system, ac-
quire military experience and be in bases in the South,
nearer to Palestine. The battalion fought crucial bat-
tles which reached far beyond the Israeli lines during
the 1978 invasion and succeeded in building relations
of close cooperation with the Shi'ah movement Amal
(Movement of the deprived) initiated by Imam Musa
al-Sadr. Those relations lasted till the Israeli invasion
of 1978, founded on an approach to expand the frame-
work of alliances with conservative national figures
such as Sayyid Musa al-Sadr, Mufti Sheikh Hassan
Khaled and president Rashid Karami.

The success of the Islamic Revolution in Iran in
1979 changed the balance of forces in the Middle East,
and particularly in Lebanon. The Iranian Revolution
gave contemporary Islam a new revolutionary image,
adding an intellectual dimension to the cultural and
ideological context in which the experience of the
battalion flourished, being the effective center of the
independent leftist movement, and a part of a much
larger network including neighborhood committees in
the cities as well as organizations in the regions and
universities in Lebanon.

Despite the legitimate bet that the Iranian newborn
Revolution could strenghten the Palestinian Revolu-
tion and struggle against Israel and compensate for
Egypt’s geopolitics losses encumbered by the Camp
David Accord, the situation was deteriorating in Leb-
anon as a result of the Iraq-Iran war and its conse-
quences on the political and military sides.

Amal’s influence in the South and its involvement
in armed conflicts with parties of the Lebanese Na-
tional Movement threatened the concept of the “safe
base” of the Palestinian Revolution in southern Leba-
non and paved the way for the 1982 Israeli invasion of
Lebanon. The battalion and its network were commit-
ted to the principle of steadfastness, perseverance and
escalation in the fighting against the Israeli invasion
of Lebanon, especially in southern Lebanon and the
Chouf Mountain. Their strategy was to penetrate the
lines occupied by the enemy and carry out deadly op-
erations that caused great loss of life and equipment.
They also played a prominent role in defending Bei-
rut against the Israeli siege. In this, the forces of the
battalion applied the slogan of fighting until martyr-
dom, bringing a legendary dimension to the histori-
cal record of the Arab resistance. At that time, in the
iconic battle of Beaufort, the resistance lost 24 martyrs

1) Jabal (mountain) al-Jarmagq is the highest mountain
in Palestine.



of Palestinian, Lebanese and other Arab nationalities.
The Israeli forces also suffered big direct losses during
these physical confrontations.

In its complex course between the horizons of the
Arab Revolution and the objectives of the Palestinian
Revolution, amidst the problems of the Lebanese-Pal-
estinian relations and the challenges of Syrian tutelage,
the left-wing nationalist independence movement de-
veloped a winding path, focusing on the main contra-
diction with the Israeli occupation and colonization
system, while addressing simultaneously the second-
ary contradictions with the Arab states in a smart and
wise manner, so that the main contradiction would
not sink in the sea of secondary contradictions and the
compass would remain directed towards Palestine.

It was not easy to maintain leadership and inde-
pendence within the complex structure of the PLO
movement while the conflict with the pro-Soviet left-
wing was pervading the Palestinian political class. Nor
was it easy to defend the national orientation of the

Palestinian leadership and at the same time, keep prac-
ticing criticism against some of the policies followed
by this very same leadership, and resist the spread of
corruption, favoritism and laxity in the ranks of Fatah
and its political and administrative organization.

The independent line opposed the Oslo process,
warning of its catastrophic consequences. However, it
faced great difficulties in managing the return to Pal-
estine while the Fatah structure was destabilized by
the severe blow from the Zionist annihilation of its
prominent leaders, the hard core of the leadership of
the PLO.

Let us not forget the connection to the Norwegian
solidarity movement and the presence of its activists
on the struggle field in Lebanon among the people

Let us remember those days

Michel Nawfal



FATAH AND THE INDEPENDENT LEFTIST MOVEMENT

Fatah, the movement of the Palestinian people. The battle for dignity in response to the setback of June
1967. The events of Black September and the move to Lebanon. Building a new left stream. The battle of

Beirut 1973. A radical discussion with Yasser Arafat.

Muin al Taher, leader of the Jarmagq battalion and of
the students brigade, will you tell us your story with
the Fatah movement and the Assifah forces?

I joined Fatah after the June 1967* setback, I was 15
years old and my entire generation was seeking a way
to resist. When I joined the Fatah movement, I had no
idea what Fatah was, we were looking for a resistance
movement against the Zionist occupation of Palestine,
as a reaction to the setback of June 1967. Later on, I
began to discover that Fatah, by virtue of its ideolo-
gy and thinking, was the movement of the Palestinian
people in all its classes and categories. Seeing Fatah
as the Palestinian national liberation movement al-
lowed the individuals, regardless of their ideological
background and orientation, to belong to it as long as
they believed that the main contradiction is with the
Zionist enemy. Fatah offered the space to exercise their
convictions, which has led many people of different
ideological and organizational affiliations to integrate
in the movement.

How did you live this experience?

From the very beginning I saw it as an anti-occupation
movement. A movement that talks about the liberation
of Palestine from the river to the sea; the liberation of
all Palestinian soil, mirroring a reaction to the setback
of June, and providing various means and methods for
actual resistance against the occupation. I was in the
West Bank and then moved to Jordan.

When the setback took place, I was in Nablus and
joined Fatah there. Our mission was to collect remnants
of weapons and munitions left from the war. During
the war I was a volunteer in the Popular Self-defense,
and we were waiting for the rifles to be distributed to
us. When the Zionist tanks entered the city, we thought
they were Arab tanks, coming from the east, and we
gathered around them until they suddenly began to
shoot us. For two days, I was left outside the school,
which became a Popular Self-defense center where a
number of soldiers of the Jordanian Arab Army had
sought shelter. We buried their weapons in the yard of
the school and it was the first weapons we got a hand
on. We did not know how to use them, so we handed
them over to our officials. One day they told us that Dr.
Nir would meet with us, and I did not know that Dr.
Nir was Yasser Arafat until many years later. During
the occupation, I worked as a street vendor on a stand

2) The June 1967 war between Israel and the neigh-
boring Arab states Egypt, Jordan, and Syria.
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I set in front of the family bookstore, in Nablus. Then
after three or four months I had to leave town with my
mother, as my brothers were abroad, and they were the
ones sustaining us. I left the West Bank for Jordan and
stayed with my mother in the city of Irbid.

What exactly did you do during that period?

At that time, I became a member of Fatah’s student or-
ganization in northern Jordan and one of the founders
of the Students’ Union of the Two Banks. I had with
me Ali Abu Tawq who later died in martyrdom, and a
group of young people, including Shams al-Tini, who
stayed with us for a long time in Beirut, as well as Ki-
fah (Moussa Amer) and Nidal Abu al-Hoyja.

In the Karameh battle (the Battle for Dignity) we
went towards the Jordan Valley, and I remember that
we took 9 mm ammunition from one of the Jordanian
army points. We had the submachine guns of Carlo,
Sten and Schmeizer, the weapon that was available
everywhere at the time. But on the outskirts of the
area of Wadi el-Yabis, groups of Fedayeen and soldiers
of the Jordanian army prevented us to progress, so we
held on there until the evening, in anticipation of the
development of the Zionist attack.

In addition to my work in the organization, I
worked as a volunteer youth coach in Irbid Camp, and
al-Hosn Camp.

At the time of the events of September, the student
organization had 300 trained and armed students, but
there were no real confrontations at that time within
the city of Irbid, which was under the control of the
Palestinian Resistance. The poet Khaled Abu Khaled
took over the leadership and appointed several dep-
uties. I happened to be one of them, even though I
was only 18 years old. The main confrontation took
place outside the city, between the Palestine Liberation
Army forces supported by Syrian forces, and the 40th
Brigade of the Jordanian Army.

After the events of September, I left Jordan for Cai-
ro to study engineering at the American University
there, but I was prevented from entering Cairo, as at
that time the Egyptian authorities were preventing all
young people of Palestinian origin from entering the
country. There was a room at Cairo airport known as
the room of Palestinian deportees, and I slept 3 or 4
nights there waiting for the plane that eventually took
me back to Damascus, and from there to Beirut where
my desire (to be in Beirut) won against the will of my
parents.



So far we have been through the events of September,
and earlier through those of the Battle for Dignity (Kar-
ameh battle). How did these two turns impact you?

After the Battle of Karameh, the Fatah movement
moved from an elite organization to an organization
that was then called the “bus organization” Before
that battle, a person standing in any yard of any city in
Jordan, announcing that he was moving to Karameh,
could attract dozens of volunteers. After this battle,
thousands of volunteers poured in from across the Arab
world. Most of them became members or supporters of
Fatah. I remember that by virtue of my organizational
position, I would sometimes inspect the night shifts of
the Irbid guard, and would find there my schoolteacher,
my elder brother and my neighbors! Fatah thus became
a much larger and popular organization.

September is a different story. Of course, we are
now reading the September events in the light of their
impact and their results as of today, and not in the light
of the atmosphere when they occurred. Indeed, there
is no doubt that we need a rigorous critical examina-
tion of the many practices, attitudes, slogans, and pol-
icies that were implemented at that stage.

Were you in Irbid at that time, and not in Amman -
how was the situation there?

Yes, I was in Irbid. Six or seven months before the
events of September, an officer of the Palestinian Re-
sistance there could fire thousands of shots cheerfully
at his wedding, and the ceremony lasted six or seven
days. Even King Hussein cited this incident in one of
his speeches. We had established a union of students
called the Students’ Union of the Two Banks.

In Jordan, they decided to celebrate Army Day. I do
not know where it was decided that this celebration
was against the Revolution (i.e.,
the Palestinian Resistance). We
decided to take a peaceful action
to prevent school students from
villages around Irbid from going
to Amman to participate in the na-
tional event. We set foot in front of
army buses carrying students from
schools. For most of the villagers,
the army was the source of liveli-
hood, most of them were sons and
relatives of soldiers and officers in
the Jordanian Arab Army. They
saw us preventing them from going
to Amman, which they might vis-
it for the first time. Some of them
were crying and we could not ex-
plain our position: Why were we
preventing them from going to

Amman? It is true that no violence or weapon had
been used, but I mention it as an example of wrong
behavior.

Not to mention the more leftist slogans: “No power
is beyond the power of resistance,” “All the power is one
of resistance”, and so on ... The hijacking of planes, the
multiplicity of decision-making centers, and the cam-
paign of incitement that President Gamal Abdel Nass-
er had to face after approving the Rogers’ project. You
could oppose the Rogers plan without being against
Abdel Nasser; The irony about the public’s awareness
and precision of intuition is that on the day of Nasser’s
death (28. September 1970), despite the suffering of
the camps from bombing, hunger and siege, they all
forgot all of their suffering. There was no house with-
out a black flag over it, an expression of sadness for the
great one deceased.

I think that one of the fundamental mistakes we
made in Jordan came from within the Revolution it-
self The Battle for Dignity (Karameh) provided us
with a positive atmosphere that we did not invest in.
A tremendous cohesion was achieved between the
Jordanian army and the Palestinian Resistance. For a
long time, the army continued to protect the Feday-
een operations with artillery. The funeral of the mar-
tyrs of Al Karameh battle included tens of thousands
from all Jordanian areas, but what was the result?
Before the events of September, the Fedayeen bases
had withdrawn from all the Jordanian regions, in the
north, south and center, and resorted to the big cities
and camps. What does this mean? Does not this mean
that we had not succeeded in establishing the popular
rooting, except in the big cities and camps, and within
some elites, and that we failed to establish it among the
Jordanian public and in its rural and Bedouin bases?
One might say that this was instigated by the regime.

Karameh memorial, Jordan (postcard).



This may be true but, the problem was that the polit-
ical orientation had greatly emphasized that its core
was Palestinian, rather than being an Arab-Palestinian
revolution.

There was indeed a plan to liquidate the Revolu-
tion and its weapons, but on our side, we provided
them with excuses and climate, while not taking the
necessary precautions to confront them, and our per-
formance was below average.

What can you tell about the new left-wing movement
that was formed from various origins and sources
in the bosom of the large organization called Fatah?
It would later be a pioneering experience for Arab
youth, not just young Palestinians.

After leaving Jordan, controversy and discussion took
place among a large group of intellectuals, thinkers
and cadres in Fatah, who held a critical view of the
leadership and the experience of the Revolution in
Jordan. These groups were known as the left-wing of
Fatah.

They all had a critical view of leadership practic-
es. But they did not come up with results, as the dis-
cussions were mainly about criticizing the leadership,
without offering any practical programs. We would go
and speak and curse, and then come back and rejoice
that we had categorized right and left, unable however
to do anything fruitful.

By then, Martyr Abu Hassan Qassem, along with
Martyr Saad Jaradat, had developed a coherent theo-
ry of the leftist and revolutionary work of Fatah. This
theory was fundamentally different from that of the
Fatah leftists, which were mostly heading towards the
Soviet line. The dialogue began within a slightly nar-
rower group with some cadres of Al'/Assifah and from
the student organization, and other militants.

This was the core nucleus that began to form
around a full program.

In 1973, two main events occurred: that of May
1973 and the October war. The May 1973 experience
led to the development of a military formation, later
known as the Student Brigade.

Could we clarify for the reader what was the May
1973 experience, and enter more into the details of
this founding stage?

In May 1973, a confrontation took place in Beirut with
the Lebanese army, when the latter decided to enter the
area of Beirut Arab University in Tariq Jdideh neigh-
borhood. The intention was to reach the Palestinian
Resistance offices in that area and advance towards the
Fakhani and Sabra. Of course, with the proximity of

the Beirut Arab University, the students were the first
to notice the advance of the Lebanese army.

We had a few weapons in the houses of some of
the students. We went out to the street and confronted
the Lebanese army force in its progression from the
Cola roundabout, in cooperation with some of the of-
fices groups, including Abu Hasan Qassem and Broth-
er Guevara, who destroyed a military vehicle of the
Lebanese army on the Cola roundabout. On the same
day the members of the student organization in uni-
versities and high schools were mobilized, and Martyr
Abu Hassan Qassem was chosen to lead them. Fatah’s
student organization became the custodian of the re-
gion of the Arab University from 1973 to 1982. From
May 1973 this organisation remained for more than
two months in fixed positions until the events ended.
It was entrusted with the task of guarding the area, in
anticipation of Israeli attacks similar to those that took
place in the Verdun operation of April 1973.

The battle allowed for greater integration and deep-
er dialogue among the participating groups. Some of
the leaders knew each other, but since everyone came
just out of duty to help manning the positions, it was
necessary to organize training camps and to hold mil-
itary and educational courses.

On the other hand, the Lebanese National Move-
ment, or the Lebanese left-wing, experienced a big cri-
sis resulting from the June 1967 war. Large groups of
leftists were quitting their organizations, such as the
Communist Party and the Communist Action Organ-
ization, after they found out that the one place where
they could live by their convictions was Fatah. Doz-
ens of groups and formations and hundreds of people
from the Lebanese left-wing joined Fatah, and others
joined the “democratic” and “popular” fronts.> For
large segments of these groups, the students’ environ-
ment provided a melting pot where interaction and in-
tegration were possible, promoted by a specific cultur-
al situation, intellectual discussion and actual practice
on the ground.

This presence of Fatah in the university context had
a left-wing approach of a very different nature from
the prevailing leftist tendencies. There was a wide side
struggle over the ideology, strategy and political line
of the left-wing. This allowed a number of groups and
individuals, Lebanese and Arabs, with Marxist-Lenin-
ist tendencies and influenced by Mao Zedong’s ideas,
to join the trend and bring an additional ideological
dimension.

3) Democratic Front for the Liberation of Palestine
(DPFLP) and Popular Front for the Liberation of Pales-
tine (PFLP).



In Lebanon there were generally two theories of
political action: the first focused on the social struggle
and the fight for the social demands.*

The second started to develop with the presence of
the Palestinian Resistance, and gave priority to the na-
tional struggle, tackling the Israeli attacks on the South
and the issue of the main contradiction with the Zion-
ist enemy. This was mainly apparent in Lebanese uni-
versities. For example, the social reform trend emerged
under the direction of the Student Union of the Leba-
nese University. At the same time the National Student
Front was established in the American University and
the Lebanese and Arab Universities, to challenge fac-
tions affiliated with the Lebanese National Movement.

The battle of Kfar Shuba in January 1975 result-
ed in a complete separation between these two lines:
the Zionist enemy entered Kfar Shuba, and the battle
broke out. At the beginning of the battle, we, the Stu-
dent Brigade, sent 90 fighters to Kfar Shuba, and end-
ed the battle. But something had to be done to address
the destructions in the village. The National Student
Front took an initiative in this respect, in cooperation
with Sayyid Musa al-Sadr. We went to Kfar Shuba, and
focused on the need to reconstruct the village, and re-
store normal life to it, with the participation of all the
student groups that came there.

This initiative made a difference in the style of po-
litical action and the method of struggle on the Leba-
nese arena. I recall that Sayyid Hani Fahs was one of
the people who visited Kfar Shuba with Sayyid Musa
al-Sadr, and then the Amal Movement, or the Move-
ment of the Deprived began to appear at the initiative
of Sayyid Musa al-Sadr.

A second decisive factor was the October 1973 war,
which was a great war that broke the myth of Israe-
li military superiority. It led to a set of results, some
positive, some negative. It proved that Arab solidarity
was not harmful for the Palestinian cause and could be
useful. And when Arabs were divided, setbacks should
be expected and were likely to happen in the Pales-
tinian arena. The concept of Arab solidarity was not
approved by all, because some would classify Arabs as
either reactionaries or progressive and would put the
“reactionaries” on the same side of the main contradic-
tion® as the Zionist enemy. This provoked a new split.

Another important point: the struggle between po-
sitions towards the October war was a bitter one. Some
refused to consider it an “act of war” and criticized it,

4) This was the position of the Lebanese National
Movement (LMN) formed by the traditional left and
communist parties. They initially focused on Lebanese
social questions, and not on the question of Palestine

5) Le.an enemy of the same importance.

while we were glorifying it as an Arab war that the Ar-
abs dared to fight, and break the Bar Lev line.

In addition, the political results of the Tishrin® war
were beginning to produce a compromise. The Dem-
ocratic Front for the Liberation of Palestine (DFLP),
in agreement with Yasser Arafat and Salah Khalaf and
with their protection, began to propose a phased pro-
gram that evolved into the so-called Ten Point Pro-
gram. All the factions contributed to its formulation
but, the Democratic Front was a “reconnaissance pa-
trol” in this regard.

The Ten Point Program had created a situation of
debate within the left- wing, and finally led to diver-
gence. We were against the settling process” in full,
against the 10-point program and against the slogan of
national authority.® However, all these features grad-
ually raised other topics. For instance, the question
of independence, of non-affiliation. The other leftist
groups were getting more and more aligned to the So-
viet Union and began to show the features of a differ-
ent intellectual line on the Palestinian arena.

Naji Alloush and Abu Daw{id came out on this line
in April 1975. Our main disagreement with Naji and
Abu Dawtid occurred with the dispute over isolating
the Phalangist Lebanese party and the question of
Arab solidarity, and over the approach of the Palestin-
ian leadership itself.

Our group considered that the Palestinian lead-
ership was a national, patriotic leadership, not a
treacherous, or deviant, leadership. And that there
were points where we disagreed, and others where
we agreed. The future development was open to more
than one possibility, despite the indicators carried by
the Ten Point Program. Its essence was the orientation
towards compromise. What then about the Cause®?
Right from its inception, it was related to the attitude
of the leadership. Was it in the position of fighting
the enemy? This lasted till Madrid and Oslo in 1993,
which means that there were twenty years of potential
disagreement about fighting the Zionist enemy.

The main feature of Fatah was that they provided
space and field to work, even for people who did not
agree 100 % with the Palestinian leadership. At the
Beirut Arab University, we were using the university
loudspeakers towards Abu Ammar’s office, which was
50 meters away, and we kept criticizing relentlessly the

6) Tishrin, Arabic for October.
7) Le. compromises with Israel

8) The Ten point program spoke about establishing a
“national authority” on any Palestinian soil vacated by
Israel. This implied readiness to put off the total libera-
tion of Palestine. (See Glossary: Ten point program.)

9) Le. the liberation of all of Palestine



10-point, the project of National Authority, the pro-
ject of a Palestinian state and the Geneva Conference.
At the end of the night, Abu Ammar would invite us
to meet. Wed talk, disagree then agree, and Abu Am-
mar would end up sleeping under the protection of the
very same rifles that denigrated the program or polit-
ical project he was putting forward. The Palestinian
leadership kept sleeping under the protection of the
student organization’s guns from 1973 until 1982.

Another essential point at the time was the Masyaf
camp in 1974. We had decided to establish an educa-
tional and military camp for the reeducation and train-
ing of the student organization. I recall that it was in
December, and it was raining non-stop for days, and a
group of intellectuals, scholars and leaders came to the
camp to organize seminars. Dr. Abu Omar Hanna was
the political officer in charge of the course in general
because he was a member of the regional committee
supervising the student organization at the time. Naji
Alloush, Munir Shafiq and others participated in the
seminars, lectures and debates that took place. Sud-
denly, on one stormy night, Brother Abu Ammar came
to the camp, and it was clear that the news of the intel-
lectual storm had reached him; the atmosphere inside
the large tent seemed even more turbulent than the
storm outside. There were more than 150 young men
and women in the camp, divided between majority
and minority, the majority was with the line we were
proposing, facing a minority led by Anis Naccache and
Faisal Alami.

Brother Abu Ammar raised the problem of the Oc-
tober war, and that there was a settlement after the
war. Were we to be part of this settlement, or not? His
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opinion was that we had to be part of it, and we had
to accept a Palestinian state, even if it were only in the
city of Jericho.

Will you tell us how the discussion with Abu Ammar
evolved?

There was a sharp discussion with Brother Abu Am-
mar, and we thought that his position was not sound,
that it was moving the Palestinian Revolution away
from its major goals, and that we could not estab-
lish a Palestinian state except on areas liberated by
the strength of the armed struggle. We believed that
the PLO purpose was to liberate Palestine. As for the
Palestinian territories occupied since 1967, we were
convinced that the duty to restore them also lied with-
in the Arab States that had allowed these territories to
be occupied while they were under their guardianship.
Such as Gaza for Egypt, and the West Bank for Jordan.
If these Arab states could retrieve them, without the
PLO, which represents the Palestinian people in the
negotiations, then the right to self- determination still
belonged to the Palestinians. This issue was so much
at the top of the disagreement with Abu Ammar that
he said: “You mean you want to leave the West Bank to
King Hussein? You are the new Hashemites!” He left
the camp upset, because he saw that there was a large
majority against his opinion, and accused Dr. Abu
Omar and Munir Shafiq and others, that they were the
ones who incited the youth and the students.

I think this camp was a milestone, because it largely
defined the political line of a large segment of young
people in preparation for the future. Immediately af-
terwards, Lebanon’s civil war exploded.



SETTING A MILITARY FORM TO THE POLITICAL FRAME

A general Marxist culture. A political nucleus for an Arab revolutionary project. The link between field
leadership and conceptualization. The battle of Bhamdoun with the Syrian army. The brigade’s move to
the South of Lebanon. The challenges of positioning in Bint Jbeil. The importance of the Battle of Maroun

al-Ras.

What was the place of Maoism in the new formation?
How did Mao Zedong’s ideas come into play? All the
groups you talked about, from Abu Fares to Naji Al-
loush, were adopting Marxism. But when did the ele-
ments of the Chinese revolutionary experience enter
the ideology? And yourself, Muin al Taher, when did
you decide you were a Maoist or a Marxist?

I cannot say that I was a Maoist. As I said earlier, a sig-
nificant segment of Lebanese leftists, both individuals
and groups, entered our Fatah groups.”® For example,
some brothers such as Hilal Raslan (Abu Mahmoud)
and all of “the mountain group” were planning to es-
tablish the Lebanese-Arabic Communist Party on a
Maoist basis. They entered as a group, not as individ-
uals. People entered our groups by tens, by hundreds
and they had their own ideas about this question.

Many of those who left the Communist Action
Organization had also their own leftist ideas. In ad-
dition, Brother Mounir Shafiq played a key role in
establishing Fatah’s principles with a special applica-
tion of Marxism, through his famous book “About the
Contradiction and Practice of the Palestinian Revolu-
tion” and his works on some of the experiences, from
the Chinese revolution led by Mao Zedong, and the
Vietnamese revolution. For us, at our level of student
brigade or as a student battalion later, I do not recall
that we discussed the stories of the Gang of Four, or
the Cultural Revolution in China, it was not part of
our program. Even the story of social imperialism was
not on our intellectual agenda. For us, the issue was no
more than to maintain the independence of the Pales-
tinian Revolution away from the alliances of interna-
tional polarization, because international polarization
would lead to a cold war and freeze the Palestinian is-
sue. So we should not be part of it. For us, the Chinese
and Vietnamese experiences were patriotic liberation
movements that we would use to inspire our analysis,
not establish a Maoist Communist Party, or a Marxist
Leninist communist intellectual group. But that aspect
was sometimes found amongst our brothers who came
from other groups. I do not recall any message we
sent to the occupied territory or to the prisons where
we spoke about these issues. In internal education,

10) They accepted the independent line of the group
and joined not for abu Ammar, but for a greater goal,
an Arab revolution (Personal communication M Nawfal
November 2019).

we focused on independence, on the “mass line”, the
armed struggle, the “people’s war”, a set of values and
customs, and the most important concept of the Main
Contradiction''.

Note though that the Red Book'? was present in all
locations, and all the fighters had it.

In other words, I can say that the line adopted by
those brothers who became an essential part of the
independent line, and who had earlier adopted Mao
Zedong’s ideas, was a line consistent with the themes
put forward by Mao. But there were issues related to
our situation, and our own reading differed from that
adopted by China, or a number of Maoist movements.
For example, we regarded the Soviet Union as a friend
of the revolution, but not as an ally, as we emphasized
our independence. A review of all our literature and
situation assessments, as well as the writings of Munir
Shafiq, all confirm this fact. But due to this position
the pro-Soviet leftist groups considered us Maoists,
because they wanted to follow Soviet policy, including
the line of compromise®.

In short, our ambition was to build our own theory
of revolution, resulting from the specificity of our cir-
cumstances, our history and our nation.

The question was about forming consciousness at the
group level.

We had a national, patriotic, popular, leftist conscious-
ness, and a general Marxist culture deeply influenced
by the Chinese and the Vietnamese experiences but
without drowning in their details, with a special re-
spect for the history of Islam, the popular traditions
and the mass line. With this understanding, the left
here had its own Palestinian Arab character.

11) There were generally two theories of political
action: the first focused on the fight for the social de-
mands, the second gave priority to the national struggle
and considered that the main contradiction was with the
Zionist enemy.

12) Book of statements from speeches and writings by
Mao Zedong, printed in small size that could be easily
carried. It was bound in bright red cover and distributed
widely internationally by China.

13) Compromise (or settlement) with the Zionist
enemy
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At the level of the battalion, we took from the Mao-
ist experience the topics related to the theory of con-
tradictions, and the people’s war, the mass line and the
respect for the masses.

But the themes of China’s Cultural Revolution did
not become a conceptual educational framework. Nei-
ther for us, nor for the mainstream of Fatah as a whole.

Back from Masydf, what happened next? On what
ground was the separation from Naji Alloush and
Abu Dawiid based?

After Masyaf the identity of this student framework
became clear to everyone. We disagreed with Naji Al-
loush and Abu Dawud on three different points:

Point 1: Their position about the Palestinian lead-
ership, as they both considered that this leadership was
treacherous, while we saw it as a patriotic leadership.

Point 2: A dispute over many issues in the Lebanese
crisis, for example: our relationship with the Kataeb or
Phalangist Party; our relationship with Musa al-Sadr;
the question of civil administration'; the relationship
with the Lebanese National Movement, and the way to
handle the Lebanese crisis in general.

Point 3: The question of Arab solidarity and our
view of it.

Actually, the real disagreement was in our vision of
what had to be done, because we focused on building
the Student Brigade and on working in the occupied
territory and in the Lebanese regions. We did not want
to deal with the disagreements concerning Fatah, or
criticize the leadership or the Arab regimes. At that
stage we saw the need for an understanding with the
Syrians, while they both believed that we should be in
conflict with the Syrians. As a result, they joined the
group of Abu Nidal, and then left him to establish the
Arab People’s Movement.'

At this stage, our line began to take shape and
scope, and we had a clear position on the Lebanese
crisis and the way to manage it. We disagreed with the
slogan of isolating the Kataeb. Some were surprised
that we were against the isolation of the Kataeb, at
a time where we were the fiercest to confront them.

14) The “civil administration” was the name of the
administrative structure in the areas under the control
of the Lebanese National Movement. The purpose of
this new structure was to fill the vacuum caused by the
collapse of the Lebanese statehood. The main activities
of this civil administration were to provide security,
justice, food and energy ... (Personal communication
Michel Nawfal 21.7.20)

15) A small Palestinian political faction, led by Naji
Allush. The group was founded as Allush left the Fatah
Revolutionary Council (Abu Nidal) in 1977.
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The answer is easy, we would fight the Kataeb when it
meant to defend our positions and to defend the Revo-
lution, but not under the slogan that the road to Pales-
tine would pass by Jounieh. We believed that isolating
the Kataeb would lead to the isolation of the Christian
community and to the partition of Lebanon. It would
not isolate the Kataeb as much as it would strengthen
them, which would result in the opposite effect to that
sought by the action.

It was our view that the Palestinian Revolution
should try as quickly as possible to get out of the Leba-
nese crisis, expand the framework of its alliances, so as
not to include only the Lebanese leftists, but also tra-
ditional stakeholders such as Imam Musa al-Sadr, and
other Lebanese parties, such as Rashid Karami, Mulfti
Sheikh Hassan Khaled and traditional Islamic leaders.

In short, we agreed with Fatah’s basic principles,
and one of them was to not interfere in the politics
of competing Arab alliances, not interfere in internal
affairs and not take sides, while the others wanted to
take sides in the name of Palestine and its Resistance.

This approach became a military approach by vir-
tue of the Lebanese crisis, and because Fatah mem-
bers were forced to defend the areas in which they
lived. For example, young people in Ras al Nabaa and
the Basta area were forced to defend their neighbor-
hoods to face the Phalangist attack coming from the
Ashrafieh area. The same applied to young people in
the mountain, the north and other areas. They found
themselves forced to form local militias defending the
neighborhood, both in the face of attacks by the Ka-
taeb, attempts to displace Christians, or even to con-
front thugs. The evolution of the Lebanese war forced
us to search for a suitable military frame.

Martyr Jawad Abu Shaar who was responsible for
the popular self- defense in Lebanon, strongly support-
ed the formation of the Student Brigade and gave it le-
gitimacy. Martyr Saad Jaradat was chosen as the first
commander of this Student Brigade, and our dialogue
with Martyr Jawad Abu Shaar went beyond the strate-
gic problems related to the armed struggle with Israel.

The basic idea we proposed and agreed on was
that each organizational division, or organizational
area, would have a combat brigade, and that each of
these brigades was to be attached to a battalion of the
Assifah forces, so that we could create a state of mo-
bilization for the organization on the one hand, and
the forces on the other. Thus, for each battalion in the
South, there were reservists. For example, the battal-
ion of the Eagles of the Arqoub had reservists in the
Tel al-Zaatar camp and so on. The general idea was to
combine the militia forces with the ‘Assifah forces to
mobilize both sides, and we began to work with Jawad
Abu Shaar on this project at an accelerated pace, but
his martyrdom came even faster.



Jawad did not consider himself part of this frame-
work?

No, he did not. The subject was not brought up, but
for all topics that were discussed we agreed with him.
Even the issues of independence versus polarization,
and the subject of the Main Contradiction. We had no
disagreement over these. I remember, we used to meet
with Jawad Abu Shaar on a daily basis, every night at
11 pm. We stayed together until 4 am, and after the
tour to all the positions, he would go to sleep, and we
too. Then we'd meet again the next day. Even moments
before his death, we were together in the office of Mar-
tyr Saad Jaradat. They told him [Jawad] that Abu Am-
mar returned to Beirut from travel, so he went to see
him. On his way he was targeted by a shell and killed
minutes after he left us. This was a great loss, and the
project that we were discussing with him, to link the
militia units with the Assifah forces, stopped after his
death.

What about the role of Mahjoub Omar here?

Mahjoub was a very close friend. But the independ-
ent line was a small body in a larger structure. Neither
Jawad nor Mahjoub were in the small body, but they
were present in the larger structure. Mahjoub agreed
on most issues that we raised together, even the ques-
tion of the national authority'®, the 10-Point, and the
assertion of the independence of Fatah from the con-
tainment of the Soviet. He also agreed on the policy of
non-interference in the internal affairs of Arab coun-
tries and moving away from the policy of making alli-
ances with particular Arab states. In all questions relat-
ing to the Lebanese crisis, the positions were identical.
But Mahjoub, with his full support of the leadership of
Fatah, especially Abu Ammar and Abu Jihad, was as an
Egyptian keen not to clash with the leadership. When-
ever he would feel that he could not support certain
positions of the leadership, he used to go and spend
time with the battalion of the Eagles of the Arqoub led
by Martyr Naim. He considered himself as one of its
members.

You mention a small group. Who would determine
the leadership tasks?

Abu Hassan Qassem, Hamdi, Marwan Kayaly, Hi-
lal Raslan, Munir Shafiq, Dr. Ismat Mourad, Ali Abu
Tawq, Mahmoud al-Aldl, Nazir Ubaryand and Mar-
tyr Abu Khaled George belonged to the group, as
did leaders from Beirut, the Beqaa, the mountains
and Hermel, as well as militant Arab leaders. So, the
nucleus was large. But it was not formed as a central

16) The 10-point program called for the establishment
of a national authority “over every part of Palestinian
territory that is liberated” (see Ten Point Program).

committee, or as a political office. Rather, it was a co-
hesive and moving nucleus, without an organizational
structure or an internal system. We were not trying to
establish an organization in the traditional sense with
a general secretary or a political office or form an or-
ganization within the Organization. We did not have
plans or ideas of division or attempts to take control
of the leadership or grab a share of it. Actually, our
work s a movement was not officially opposed to the
PLO. Its ultimate goal was to share in the experience of
armed struggle but with a degree of independence and
differentiation. To be clear, we did not have a project
to create a party, and we have to distinguish between a
line and a party.

But was it an Arab project?

Yes, the movement was an Arab project, and included
many Arabs, The project gathered young people from
Tunisia, Egypt, Syria and Iraq. Our political line be-
came an issue not only for the Arabs, but also for the
Iranians, the Turks and some Western leftists as well.

As for Brother Abu Fadi (Munir Shafiq), the rela-
tionship with him was not built on the basis of “teacher
and pupils”. Anything he wrote was subject to careful
study by a large group of people. There were some-
times sharp discussions, sometimes editing and cor-
rections, so that the speech he published afterwards
reflected the view of the group. Munir Shafiq was
committed to this rule, and his role was clear, distinc-
tive and pioneering.

How was Saad Jaradat appointed commander of the
brigade, and who appointed him?

Saad was chosen through agreement between us and
Jawad. Before Saad, the actual military commander of
this group was Abu Hassan Qassem. But he had gone
on a mission to Jordan related to his eternal project
of establishing bases in the occupied territory. Saad
was originally the military commander of the Arab
University Division. I was the secretary of the divi-
sion. A young man from the occupied territories was
in the process of reeducation and training to lead his
patrol back to the occupied territory. His name was
Abu el Ratib, and we agreed he would become Saad’s
vice-commander. In fact, no decision was made by
Jawad or Yasser Arafat.

None of us ever decided that he was the leader of
this group, and even later when I became commander
of the battalion or the brigade, and Marwan became
vice- commander, no one gave us an order to appoint
one or the other. The advantage of Fatah is that you
are in a movement with which you disagree in some of
its policies, but you agree with its national leadership
on something fundamental that you fight against, the
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Main Enemy"’, and something you fight for, called the
Palestinian Revolution. Otherwise, you can discuss,
vary and strive to what you deem appropriate and take
responsibility for your diligence.

The brigade was formed in agreement with Jawad.
Saad became commander of the brigade, and Abu el
Ratib became vice-commander. And you, what was
your position?

I was responsible for the Organization in Beirut Arab
University, and a member of the student office when
the brigade was formed. A month later, I was chosen
by Brother Abu Jihad to be the deputy commander of
the Military School and a political commissioner for
it, and this required me to leave for Damascus for a
limited period.

Did you ever study at the Military School?

No, war taught us war. I went as a political commis-
sioner for the Military School.

You went as a commander of the Military School to
graduate officers, and you never attended the of-
ficers’ courses?

I went by means of experience gained from regular
military courses like all young people in Fatah. I went
as a political commissioner, and I was responsible for
the educational aspect of the session, after the Gener-
al Command issued an order stating that the political
commissioner is a deputy to the commander of the
force of which he is a member. This order was not very
respected anyway.

Who was the commander of the Military School?

He was a pioneer named Mutlaq Hamdan (Abu
Fawaz), one of the finest officers, from East Jordan.
He belonged to a large clan and joined the Revolution
in September 1970, when he left the battalion that he
commanded in the Jordanian Army. This course was
attended by a group of students.

We did not spend much time in Damascus be-
cause the civil war in Lebanon had erupted. When
the Arab Lebanon Army break out took place, led by
Ahmed Khatib'®, it was decided to transfer the Mili-
tary School’s force to the Beqaa, so I moved with them
to the Beqaa.

We stayed for two months in the Beqaa. After a
while, some returned to Damascus to complete the

17) The main enemy, here: the Zionist enemy.

18) On January 21, 1976 Ahmed Khatib lead a break-
away by muslim soldiers from the national Lebanese
Army, forming the Lebanese Arab Army.
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course, while the rest joined their units. I talked Broth-
er Abu Ammar into rewarding young people who
joined their units and fought and did not return to the
session, and he issued an order to promote them to
the rank of lieutenant without completing the course
of the Military School.

I stayed in Lebanon, and on the day Saad Jaradat
was martyred in Beirut’s Barjawi neighborhood", I
was in Sannine, because my tenure was there. Brother
Rabih, from a group of local committees in the moun-
tain, came and said to me: “Come, the men are asking
for your presence”, and I did not hear a word about
Saad’s martyrdom during the whole journey from San-
nine to Dhiir el Abbéadiyyeh. I met Brother Abu Fadi,
who informed me of the death of Saad during duty,
and the martyrdom of a group of youth of the moun-
tain village of Aaraya, and this is one of the three times
when my tears flowed.

After the martyrdom of Saad, were you appointed
commander of the brigade? Was not Abu el Ratib his
vice-commander?

Abu el Ratib had died earlier in a car crash. He was re-
turning from Baysour camp and his Land Rover over-
turned. Before he was martyred, we had taken him to
Baysour to rest. His time to patrol the occupied terri-
tories was approaching. Here we come to the story of
the hero Abu el Ratib.

In practice, the brigade was present in most of the
strategic positions in West-Beirut because its members
were residing near these axes, but it began to take oth-
er positions when other missions were requested; and
the first was to send a faction to participate in the oc-
cupation of Damour. The squad led by Abu el Ratib
achieved the military duty as required. When the loot-
ing, robbery, destruction and killing of civilians start-
ed, the Damour squad withdrew to protest what was
happening, after having informed the commander of
the attack Colonel Abu Musa about these overrides,
and that no action had been taken. Abu Musa accused
the squad of fleeing the battle. They were then sum-
moned by Abu Ayyad (Saldh Khalaf), and told him
what happened, and why they left the field in pro-
test. They proved that they had accomplished their
duty. They had occupied the region as required. Then
Brother Abu Ayyad told them “you are the conscience
of Fatah”, and spread this story widely.

After that, we were asked to participate, whenever
a battle broke out somewhere, in Kahaleh or Aaraya in
the mountain, in Aintura and Sannine. The Sannine
battles are among the most prominent points in the
history of the battalion. Abu Khaled (George ‘Assal),
one of the most prominent founders of the line, al-

19) Saad Jaradat was killed June 26, 1976.



ways distinguished at the
level of theory and prac-
tice, died there in martyr-
dom. And so did the elite
of the best young men in
the brigade, such as engi-
neer Tony al-Nems, who
was martyred on the very
day he was to celebrate
his graduation from the
American University, Mo-
hammed Shbaro, Hamad
Haidar, Jamal Al Qaray,
Harb Jamjlim, Hasanein,
Ayman Barqawi and Nico-
las Abboud. The blows in
Sannine were painful and
destructive, yet we held
the position for a long
time. The battle was led
by Abu Khaled al-Amleh,
and we were at great odds
with him on the battle
plan and the strategic vi-
sion. Our view was that
we must avoid confronta-
tion with the Syrians, that
a new agreement should
be reached with Syria,
and that we should find
solutions to this civil war. While their (his and oth-
er Fatah leftists) opinion, together with some sectors
of the Lebanese left-wing, was that the front extends
from Sofar to Moscow, and they named their base the
Red Niche.

photographer.)

During that period, Fatah’s leftists and some Leba-
nese left-wing factions dominated Fatah’s political and
military decision and were pushing for a military solu-
tion to the civil war. I think that Abu Ammar and Abu
Jihad did not agree on this approach, but they were
unable to stop it.

I recall that on several occasions, the rockets would
be landing on Eastern Beirut at the very moment
that a cease-fire agreement was announced. Perhaps
the most prominent of those occasions was the crazy
bombing that was nicknamed by the newspaper “as-
Safir” “the night Achrafieh was disciplined”? This was
in response to an agreement carried out by Abu Zaim
in Kaslik, which included substantial concessions from
the Christian camp to the Resistance and the National
Movement. Arafat was accused of having made a deal
which went against their decision to isolate the Kataeb.

20) Abu Ammar wanted a ceasefire with the
phalangists, but the Soviet-leaning groups in Fatah
bombarded Aschrafieh. (Personal communication M
Nawfal November 2019.)
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Poster in memory of Saad Jaradat, the first leader of the Student Brigade. (Unknown

Saad was martyred in the battle of Barjawi in Bei-
rut near the Tower of Nazareth, in an attempt to lift
the siege on the camp of Tel al-Zaatar, and that was the
same night he was supposed to propose to his fiancée.
Then I was chosen as a leader of the battalion in its
new phase, and I realized that this force, scattered and
stretching from Khandaq el-Ghamiq in Beirut to the
mountain and Sannine must first be organized.

We asked Brother Abu Jihad to replace our force
in Sannine with another force. We began to gather the
battalion in the camp of Baysour for reeducation and
training after the death of dozens of martyrs during
the confrontations. We had withdrawn from the San-
nine front for only two weeks, when it was defeated.
Aintura, which Abu Khaled al-’Amleh claimed to hold
for months, collapsed in minutes and without a clash
after the first waves of Syrian rocket fire. The troops
withdrew disorganized in the direction of Ras al-Metn
and al-Abadiya al-Tahta.

With the fall of the Alntura-Sannine front, Abu
Ammar and Abu Jihad regained the actual command
of the forces, managed the conflict with the Syrians,
and the pressure exercised on them by the National
Movement weakened.
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You said that Abu Jihad began to play a key role in
the military leadership. Before that, who had the pri-
mary role?

The General Command of the ‘Assifah forces at the
time was composed of five people: Abu Ammar who
was the commander-in-chief, Abu Jihad, Saad Sayel,
who was director of central operations, and Abu Saleh
and Abu Mabher, both based in Damascus and tech-
nically at a distance from the forces in the Lebanese
arena. We also have to mention that the commander of
the South was Abu Musa, the commander of Aintiira
was Abu Khaled al-Amleh, and for Uy{in es-Siman, it
was Yassin Saadeh. The north was led by Haji Hassan,
who was martyred. To replace him, they sent Naim,
Abu al-Wafa and Abu Omar Hanna. On the way, they
were killed or lost at sea.

Did you, as the commander of the battalion, gather
the young men in Baysour and train them?

Of course, it was necessary to reorganize the battalion
in the light of our assessment that quite a battle was to
come with the Syrians. This battle must be fought so we
could impose a cease-fire followed by a cessation of the
civil war. Our assessment was also that another battle
would follow, but this time in the South, where reports
continued that the border enclave led by Saad Haddad
began to expand. We began to explore the South be-
fore we moved to confront the Syrians at Bhamdoun,
and Adham arranged a tour with Abu Maystin (Abdel
Hassan Amin) and Ali Youssef, in which I participated
with Martyr Marwan Kayali. We explored the areas of
Bint Jbeil and Tire and met with some of the locals. We
learned that there were serious threats from Haddad
for Bint Jbeil and Hanin.

We returned to the mountains near Bhamdoun,
knowing that we must prepare ourselves to confront
at any moment Saad Haddad carrying out his threat
against the border region. This would require sending
part of the force to the South, so we informed Abu Ji-
had about it.

In the meantime, we began preparations for the
battle of Bhamdoun under the direct supervision of
Khalil al-Wazir (Abu Jihad). Abu Ali Mas(id, a unit
commander, was appointed as commander of Bham-
doun (later, he became the commander of the Tire mi-
litia). We started implementing a plan to fortify our
positions in Bhamdoun, which were led by Mahmoud
al-Aldl, along with a large group of young people, in-
cluding Adnan Abu Jaber and Guevara, who built the
engineered fortifications, the laying of mines and the
construction of military obstacles under the supervi-
sion of Hilal Raslan (Abu Mahmoud) and Abu Hassan
Qassem.
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They were a large group of about 60 or 70 young
people, including Ammar, Falah, Saber, Mansour, Abu
Ali, Dr. Shafiq, groups from local committees in the
mountain, and many others.

We began to prepare for the confrontation battle in
Bhamdoun, and it took place on the main road in the
area of villas and palaces. The brothers Mounir Kan-
su and Youssef Jawad, a graduate student in Germany,
were martyred.

Were you with them?

I was in Baysour the first hours of battle and moved at
night to Bhamdoun where I met Brother Abu Jihad. We
met the young people there and spent the night with
them. At dawn, I returned home with Brother Abu Ji-
had after I left my car there for Brother Mahmoud.

Knowing that the battle ended on the evening of
the second day in Bhamdoun, I began to arrange the
second line of defense after Bhamdoun, which was
on the railway bridge at Dhiir al-Abbadiya, a high en-
trance towards Kahaleh. The groups took position in
that area, and here I recall two incidents on the second
day after the Battle of Bhamdoun: The first was report-
ed by one of the brothers. He was at the rail barrier.
A taxi driver coming from Bhamdoun, stopped, and
said to him: “I want to meet the leader of the position™
He answered, “I am in charge here”. The driver then
informed him: “The Syrian officer above tells you that
you are exposed to him, and if he receives fire instruc-
tions, he can hurt you. You should take cover”.

The second story is about how important it is to
assess the political situation during military action.
The Syrian army had made moves suggesting its inten-
tion to progress in the direction of our new positions.
I asked the radio officer in Kayf{in, the headquarters of
Abu Jihad, to send a cable to the fighters asking them
to assess the position that we had discussed with Abu
Hassan Qassem, Abu Mahmoud, Munir and the rest
of the brothers.

At that time all the cables had a direct military
character. And here I was asking him to send a cable
requesting the fighters to assess their position and de-
gree of steadfastness for the next 24 or 48 hours. The
reason was that during this period, an Arab summit
was to be held and might lead to a cease-fire, and the
end of the civil war. We would then be able to devote
ourselves to our main task of fighting against the Zion-
ist enemy. We therefore had to maintain our positions
and consolidate them, whatever sacrifices and losses
there would be.

The radio commissioner considered me a crap,
wondering “who would come to give me this cable
at this time?!” Abu Jihad was present, and I told him



“I want to send a cable and the radio commissioner
does not want to send it”. He read it and told the radio
commissioner to send it immediately, and to circulate
it to everyone for its importance. The Riyadh confer-
ence was held, our assessment of the political situation
had been correct, and there was cease-fire.?!

We had another mission in the mountain, which
was to preserve its security when the mountain be-
came a war zone. Here the bad habits associated with
fighting came back, especially because it was an area of
villas and homes for vacationers. Therefore, the mili-
tary police established a basic force made of the battal-
ion and of volunteer students from the external prov-
inces, led by Brother Ghazi al-Husseini and Brother
Sami. We were able to fully control this issue, through
a series of checkpoints on the main intersections, and
we granted the inhabitants of the mountain an atmos-
phere of security, safety and peace.

The battle of Bhamdoun ended and an Arab agree-
ment was made to send an Arab deterring force. We
had hardly begun to dismantle our positions on the
old railway and in Dhir el-Abbadiya, when Saad
Haddad bombed Bint Jbeil, and a number of martyrs
died. He was issuing a warning to the town’s people to
surrender, so we decided it was time to move to the
South. We met with Abu Jihad, who was familiar with
the earlier reconnaissance we had done. He was still
not sure that the battle with the Syrians had ended and
that the cease-fire would hold. He asked us to wait a
little. By midnight, he had ascertained that the cease-
fire had been proven. He sent me a message which es-
sence was that the entire Student Brigade was to move
to Bint Jbeil area.

The arrangements to move hardly took an hour
or two, then we went directly to Bint Jbeil in a con-
voy. The area was supposed to be in the custody of the
Central Sector, whose leader was Martyr Bilal and his
deputy, Martyr Nir. The Central Sector was not there
in practise; it was still located east of Saida because of
the battles with the Syrians, and there were no forc-
es, neither from the National Movement nor from the
Palestinian Resistance on the entire border line, till the
Tire area.

We went straight to Bint Jbeil area, and the morale
of the locals rose. We began to spread on the hills of
Mas’id, Shaalabun and Saff al-Hawa, and in Aynata
and Rchaf Martyr Hassan Sharara and his compan-
ions from Bint Jbeil, who fought with us in various
locations, helped us. The first to reach to us was Abu
al-Fath, who was then a Fatah militia chiefin that area.
In the evening came the deputy commander of the
Central Sector, Martyr Nir.

21) The Arab League summit (Riyadh), October 16,
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How many were you?

We were almost 200 fighters, and we managed to pre-
vent Saad Haddad’s forces from advancing. Indeed,
the day before our arrival, the village of Hanin was
occupied, all its inhabitants were deported, and the
village was burned. This was the town of Ali Ydsuf,
a local Lebanese militant. We had entered it a week
earlier. On August 2, Haddad’s forces had killed three
of our brothers in the Movement, Martyrs Adel Watfi,
Mahmud Qawas and Nazih Diab, as they were going
to the town of Ain Ebel, in an attempt, together with
patriotic locals, to support the local resistance in its
infancy.

As soon as we arrived in Bint Jbeil, we launched
a series of activities such as combat patrols and re-
connaissance operations to confuse the forces of Saad
Haddad and make them feel that the balance of power
in that region had changed. We allowed the Palestin-
ian Resistance forces to reorganize themselves, with-
draw from positions of confrontation with the Syrians,
and from the civil war, and return to their positions in
the South. We took responsibility for the region on our
own for several days, trying to stop the expansion of
Saad Haddad’s forces.

Can we define more precisely the period between
the initiative to bridge the gap in the South and the
return of the Palestinian Resistance forces to the re-
gion?

We stayed alone in the area of Bint Jbeil and Rchaf for
at least two weeks. Then the forces of the Central Sec-
tor came, followed by groups of Palestinian factions
and of the Lebanese National Movement. The reor-
ganization began.

This operation occurred straight after the Battle of
Bhamdoun?

Yes, and before the Arab Deterrent Forces and the Syr-
ian Forces arrived and spread. Our forces were still at
the roadblock on the main road leading down to Ka-
haleh at the Abbadiya hills. Our positions were still
there, it was less than 48 hours after the end of the bat-
tle of Bhamdoun.

The students who held the positions in Beirut and
then fought in Sannine, were they non-professional
Fedayeen? Did they come to the South to become Fe-
dayeen?

The decision to join the professional forces did not
arise until the moment we reached the South. Then
came the transition to a military battalion. We went to
the South with the same mindset that led us to Sannine
and to all the other sites. Our motto was: a hard-fighting
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militant on a hard line. But when it turned out that we
were going to stay in the South, we revived the old idea
that we had agreed upon with Jawad Abu Sha'er. It was
to maintain the status of the student organization and
of the movement both in Beirut and in various regions
of Lebanon. And that we had an advanced vanguard
stationed in the South attached to one of the battalions

there.
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Unfortunately, the leadership of the region did not
accept this idea, because they were not comfortable
with the growth of this phenomenon. They said, “We
must choose either the militia, or the troops” We chose
the troops, and we became a battalion after several the
brothers decided to serve as fighters or as soldiers and
fully engage in military action.

The political organization and the po-
litical line, both in universities and in the
various Lebanese regions, kept being a re-
serve for this unit. The degree of readiness
increased, and the number rose from 200 to
400 or 500 people from all Lebanese regions
and universities. It was a dynamic move-
ment with a rear force that no organizational
decision could prevent or limit.

It should be noted that while some bat-
talions were eroding from the inside, the
formation of a combat battalion composed
of students and political cadres, added to the
Assifah forces, was a unique and exception-
al achievement, and was a success for the
intellectual and political line on which the
movement was based.

Top to bottom:

Slogan, signed by the Workers Party (part

of the Lebanese National Movement). Read
at the marketplace in Bint Jbeil, November
1977: — Nobody defends the South, except for
the fighters from the National Movement and
the Palestinian Resistance. (Photo by Ebba
Wergeland.)

On January 1, 1978, at around 3 p.m., the
clinic in Bint Jbeil was hit by nail bombs,
anti- personnel explosive devices containing
nails to increase effectiveness at harming vic-
tims. Windows were broken and small nails
could be picked up from the floor. As this
was a day off, nobody was injured. (Photo by
Ebba Wergeland.)

Nails like those found in the Bint Jbeil clinic
in January 1978, can be seen in the War
Remnants Museum, Saigon. They are from
nailbombs dropped by USA over Vietnam
during their Vietnam war 1954-75. (Photo by
Anthony Bianco. https://www. thetraveltart.
com/vietnam-war-remnants-museum-ho-
chi-minh-city/)



It is sad though, that the idea of linking forces with
units of the organization, a great idea that we agreed
upon with Martyr Jawad Abu Shaer, was achieved only
on our level.

Were you getting salaries?

The Student Organization did not receive any salaries,
while the brothers who entered the battalion were part
of the financial responsibility of the ‘Assifah forces.

How did the forces in the South receive you?

The commander of the forces of Qastal was Colonel
Abu Musa who did not hide his annoyance at our pres-
ence and did not consider us as an enhancement of
his forces. We were at least 200 people, and in times of
emergency, alert, holidays and weekends, our number
would rise to more than 500, but he would send us
supplies for only 50 people. He was playing with us on
this subject. We would go to Abu Ammar to complain,
he would give us a letter instructing to raise the num-
ber of rations. Abu Musa committed for two days, and
then went back to reduce the supply. It was a long time
before Abu Ammar and Abu Jihad fixed this issue. Abu
Musa then left the forces, and he did not pay us a visit,
not even once.

We began to complete the process of transition to
a regular battalion and divided the battalion into fac-
tions and units including an administrative unit. We
conducted a youth assessment, replacing organiza-
tional ranks, educational attainment, and combat ex-
perience with military ranks. Military discipline was
high: the morning, assembly in lines, the national an-
them, the military greeting, and everyone merged into
this new discipline which did not exist in many other
units.

As we joined the ‘Assifah forces, we began to reed-
ucate the military cadres, because we had all learned
war through war, and we gained our experience from
local battles and trainings. None of us were graduates
from a military college, except for Jihad, Adham and
Rebhi, who had recently graduated from the Fatah
Military College, Adnan Abu Jaber who was coming to
us from the Galilee Brigade, and Abu Dhargam, from
the Yarmouk forces. We needed a military academic
qualification and were encouraged in this direction by
Martyr Abu al-Walid, who supported us with his care
and with whom we had a strong relationship. We sent
Ali Abu Tawq and Riyad to China, Khaled, Marwan
and Hussam to Russia, Jihad to Korea, and others to
Algeria, Vietnam and Germany. We took a large share
of the members of the military college of Fatah. When
the men finished their first round of courses, some of
them went to more advanced courses. In 1979 I went
to train at the Pakistani Infantry School.

Who chose the name of the battalion?

Jabal al-Jarmagq is the highest peak in Palestine, and
we chose it because it symbolizes the liberation of all
of Palestine.

Let us go back to your position in the Bint Jbeil area.

In Bint Jbeil, we faced four major challenges. The first
and most important one was to stop the advance of
the border forces led by Major Sami Chidiac, prevent
him from expanding towards Bint Jbeil, and let him
feel that there was an organized military force capable
of confronting him. This was accomplished by posi-
tioning on the hills surrounding Bint Jbeil and Rchaf,
and by conducting several military activities and re-
connaissance patrols in the direction of the enemy

Nina Braadland with
bomblets (dismanteled)
from cluster munition pro-
vided by USA to Israel and
used over South Lebanon in
1974-76 (and later). They
do not detonate immediate-
ly, but behave like conven-
tional land mines that det-
onate when touched. Nina
(staff nurse) was stationed i
Bint Jbeil November 1977 —
March 1978 as member of a
medical team to PLO from
the Palestine Committee.
(Photo by Ebba Wergeland.)
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positions. This forced the Haddad forces to retreat and
stop trying, which calmed down the Bint Jbeil front
temporarily.

The second challenge: to reassure the population of
Bint Jbeil that this force was with them, that we came
to protect them, and to put an end to abuses. I think
we accomplished this task with success, thanks to the
remarkable efforts of our brothers from the locals, led
by Martyr Hassan Shararah, and to the network of
social and political relations that we established with
various stakeholders, in accordance with our political
and cultural aims.

The third challenge: reorganizing the battalion un-
der new conditions and transforming it from a volun-
teer force holding combat positions for days or weeks
before being replaced by another force, into a regular
battalion stationed in a geographical area, and fully re-
sponsible for the said area for both military, security,
and political aspects.

The fourth challenge: how to get accepted into the
body of the ‘Assifah forces in the region, amid an at-
mosphere of political and organizational agitation.
Our main strength was our ability to cope quickly with
the reality we were living in, especially as a large and
organized force that added a certain weight to the ex-
isting forces. Our previous reputation and our military
activities against the forces of Saad Haddad helped us,
as well as our determination to be part of the forces of
Qastal in the ‘Assifah forces. That brought us the re-
spect of the people and of the other bodies in the ‘Assi-
fah forces. Within a short period of time, we managed
to be at the heart of these forces, to be respected by
their leaders, and by the leaders of the Palestinian and
Lebanese factions. We were able to build privileged re-
lations with many of them, such as Martyr Bilal, leader
of the Central Sector.

What can you tell us about the relationship with Bi-
lal, leader of the Central Sector?

Our relationship with martyrs Bilal and Nur shifted
from doubt and suspicion incited by Colonel Abu
Musa, to a close relationship that I almost compare
with our relationship with Martyr Jawad Abu Shaer.
By the way, Martyr Jawad was commander of the Cen-
tral Sector before Martyr Bilal. We disagreed with him
in the beginning over the way to deal with the Amal
movement and the national and traditional forces, as
Bilal was influenced by some leftist views prevailing at
the time.

However, his courage and insight made us insep-
arable, and our joined forces intervened more than
once in Bint Jbeil, in the support to the emergency
forces, and in the 1982 invasion, until I saw us as one
force with one command.

20

I remember when Haddad’s forces occupied the
hill of Shalabun, a hill overlooking the Bint Jbeil-Beit
Yahun road, how Bilal drove me, from Tibnin to Bint
Jbeil, which we reached with several holes of enemy
bullets in his car. I remember how Jihad from al-Jar-
maq and Abu Ahmed Khamis from the Central Sector
led together the counter-attack and retrieved the hill.
In the battle of Maroun al-Ras, Bilal went to Tibnin,
the headquarters of al-Jarmaq. He and Khaled, the bat-
talion operations officer, took responsibility for coor-
dinating the artillery and logistical support.

On that day, the command of the forces of Qastal
opposed the fact that we carried out the counterattack
during the day and requested that it be postponed un-
til sufficient forces from various units were mobilized.
Bilal was sure of our appreciation of the situation, and
of our high combat capability, so he persuaded Hajj
Ismail, Commander of the forces of Qastal, to change
his position. And he was the first to arrive in Bint Jbeil
by minutes after the attack ended.

A few days later Bilal went to Beirut and was
shocked by what he heard from some groups, ques-
tioning the process and the attack. He returned,
convinced to develop our relationship away from the
bustle of the Beirut salons.

When Israel invaded in 1978 our forces intervened
jointly, and we spent a night at the headquarters of the
Central Sector in Jwaya. On the next morning, we co-
ordinated the groups and placed Khaled, from al-Jar-
magq, as commander of the groups stationed in Jwaya.
We moved the headquarters to another building, a few
meters away, and we had hardly done so when the Zi-
onist aircrafts bombed the headquarters and destroyed
it completely. Death was at a distance of a few meters
from us. At many moments, you could think that
al-Jarmaq and the Central Sector were one single unit.

How were the forces reorganized?

We stayed in Bint Jbeil in the first phase, and when
the rest of the forces returned from the confrontation
with the Syrians, the Kataeb and the civil war, the
forces were reorganized in the South. We patrolled be-
tween the two areas of Bint Jbeil and Rchaf (on the
axis Rchaf-Qana - Tire), and another brigade of the
‘Assifah forces took responsibility for the sector of Bint
Jbeil. But after a short period (three or four months),
and at the request of the locals, the leadership felt
that we urgently needed to return to Bint Jbeil, and to
maintain its security as it was the largest city in the re-
gion. We returned and took responsibility for the Bint
Jbeil district, and we stayed there until the Zionist en-
emy invaded the area in 1978. The Central Sector took
over the Rchaf-Qana district, and the brigade of Beyt
el-Maqdes took over for the Taybeh-Rabb Talatin sec-
tor. The brigade of the Martyrs of September returned



to the coast, whereas the brigade of Abu Youssef al-
Najjar, led by Martyr Azmi al- Zghayyar, took position
on the axis of Tire-Rashidiyeh.

At this stage, the battalion of Bint Jbeil was estab-
lished, with brothers networking in the various Leb-
anese regions, under the leadership of Ramadan and
Abu Dawid, with the remarkable support of Dr. Is-
mat, Sami, Trad, Radwan and Rabih. This battalion
played a distinctive role in all the battles we fought,
and has given many Lebanese martyrs, thus forming
the nucleus of a Lebanese-Arab military action com-
mitted to the Palestinian Resistance.

How was the evolution of the conflict on the border
between 1976 and 1978?

The main objective of Saad Haddad forces was to link
the two wings of the border strip located in Qulaia-Mar-
jayoun on the one hand, and Ain Ebel-Rmeish on the
other, and this could only be achieved by occupying or
controlling all the border villages between them. Saad
Haddad tried to achieve this through military confron-
tations to occupy some of these villages, or through
pressure on the villagers to control their villages and
impose a fait accompli on them, because this area was
considered by most as a neutral area, a no man’s land.

The first failure of Haddad’s forces happened after
they occupied Bint Jbeil.”> They retreated as our forces
arrived and engaged with them, and they then failed
to control the Shalaabun hill, which we were able to
recover within hours. Then they managed to occupy
the town of Taybeh and the village of Rabb Talatin, but
these were quickly retrieved by a coordinated coun-
terattack organized by factions of most of the ‘Assifah
forces in the region, and we participated in a faction
led by Brother Adham, which was in charge of recov-
ering the village of Rabb Talatin.

The day after the success of our attack, Saad Hadd-
ad attempted to carry out a counter-attack, but failed
miserably and the tank he was leading was hit. He had
to leave her on the battlefield after being wounded
himself. Brother Adham who was leading the defense
was also wounded. Two days later, the Zionists found
that they had no choice but to intervene directly to res-
cue the forces of Haddad from the defeat. An Israeli
armored force advanced under a downpour of heavy
shelling in the direction of the Taybeh-Rabb Talatin.
But at the same moment, they were surprised by the
success of another counterattack in the eastern sector,
led by Martyr Mohammed Ali Abu Yaqoub to liberate
the town of Khyam. Thus, the joint Palestinian-Leba-
nese forces were on the outskirts of Marjayoun.

As a result of this new situation, the Zionist army
was forced to withdraw immediately, leaving only
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Haddad’s tank and its armored escort, which had been
both destroyed on the battlefield. The battle ended the
ability of Haddad’s forces to expand militarily.

Then started another battle, mainly political and
perhaps even more difficult than the military confron-
tation. Haddad, in cooperation with a Zionist intelli-
gence officer named Jaafar, tried to impose his control
over all the border villages, from Maroun al-Ras to
Aitaroun, Mays al-Jabal, Hula, and Bleda. They began
to pressure the locals in these villages and assemble
them in the mosque or the village square, requesting
them at gunpoint to join the border strip controlled

by Haddad.

On the other hand, we intensified our visits to these
villages. We told the locals that we had no intention
whatsoever of settling in their villages and give an ex-
cuse to the Zionists or Saad Haddad’s forces to bomb
them. But they also had to refuse to let the forces of
Saad Haddad enter their areas by using their ways of
civil resistance. We wanted to keep this area neutral,
and to make the border project fail politically, after we
made it fail militarily.

The peak of this conflict was in the village of Mays
al-Jabal, where we cooperated with Sheikh Abdul Amir
Qabalan, also known as Mufti al- Jaafari al-Mumtaz
(the distinguished Mutfti of Jafaar). He was from the
same village and had a remarkable leading and orien-
tating role in this confrontation with the town’s dig-
nitaries and stakeholders. Our brothers from the vil-
lage who were members in the Fatah organization also
played an important role in confronting the Haddad’s
forces, and in mobilizing the locals into a unified po-
sition. They encouraged people to organize various
kinds of protests against the entry of any of Saad
Haddad troops into the town, and there were peaceful
civil protests.

One day, a patrol of Haddad forces entered the
town. The residents gathered in the mosque and con-
fronted the patrol, demanding that they leave imme-
diately. We were surprised by some armed factions
from the National Movement threatening to shell the
village and direct artillery and missiles at it. This was
a childish position, blind to the dimensions of the bat-
tle. It forced us to intervene by force, and we told the
members of those factions: If you harm this village, we
will have to hit you, because this is an attack on the
locals and their steadfastness and their determination
to confront the forces of Haddad. This is a red line that
cannot be questioned.

In fact, we fought a great political struggle along
the entire border strip, and we completely thwarted
Saad Haddad’s plan, thanks to the steadfastness of the
locals and their cooperation. Martyr Marwan Kayali
was the knight of this struggle.
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Umm Ahmed and her children, preparing food for supper. The family
hosted the Norwegian health workers from the Palestine Committe in
Bint Jbeil November 1977 — March 1978. (Photo by Ebba Wergeland.)

At that time Haddad’s forces resorted to a different
tactic, direct force, in occupying the village of Maroun
al-Ras. They took advantage of the division between
two families: a family who sadly enough had relations
with Saad Haddad group, mirroring the political and
social differences that exist in most of the villages, and
another family allied with the National Movement.
Both families sought to protect their interests inside
the village.

Maroun al-Ras strategic importance resides in the
fact that it completely overlooks the area of Bint Jbeil.
Whoever controls Maroun al-Ras, which rises more
than 940 meters above sea level, controls the fire on
the area to the outskirts of Tibnin, and oversees all of
the occupied territories of Palestine, located above the
colony Avimim. In view of its importance, the Unit-
ed Arab Command had established several sites and
fortifications before 1967, and the international truce
monitors®* had been positioned there since 1948.

At the dawn of March 8, 1978, the forces of Major
Sami al-Chidiac, reinforced by tanks, occupied Ma-
roun al-Ras, which immediately witnessed a massive
exodus of the inhabitants. Thus, Bint Jbeil became
under fire control. The situation was difficult, and it
meant that all the villages of the border strip might fall,
and we would have to withdraw to the hills of Taybeh
and the outskirts of Tibnin.

Ever since our arrival in Bint Jbeil, we always
looked up to Maroun al- Ras, overlooking Bint Jbeil,
and wondered what would happen if that town (Bint
Jbeil) fell under the control of hostile forces. We stud-
ied the various possibilities, and although we succeed-
ed in neutralizing the village for a period, we reached

23) The UN Truce Supervision Organization
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the decision that we had to regain Ma-
roun al Ras immediately and without de-
lay so that the enemy would not be able to
strengthen their positions in such a way
that the attempt to recover it would be-
come difficult and costly. At 5 am I moved
from the battalion headquarters in Tibnin
to Bint Jbeil, whose roads were cut by fire
and hostile shelling.* Shafiq al-Ghabra
(Jihad) began preparations for the coun-
terattack, and Brother Bilal, commander
of the Central Sector attended the leader-
ship of the brigade and began coordinating
fire support with the heavy artillery led by
Wassif Oreyqat. We did not wait for any
reinforcements from the other forces so as
not to waste time, and I rejected the forc-
es command’s proposal to postpone the
counterattack until we would be complete-
ly prepared and mobilized. At 1:00 pm the
counterattack was launched.

Did you not have a force in Maroun al Ras?

We did not have forces there because we had an agree-
ment with the village that it was to stay neutral. So,
we entered it in civilian clothes and without weapons
and we met with the locals. We were not allowed to
enter with weapons, neither we nor the forces of Saad
Haddad. Hours after they occupied Maroun al-Ras, we
recovered it again thanks to an infantry force led by
Brother Jihad, which included three factions: one of
Fatah, one of the Popular Front led by Maher Yamani
and one of the Communist Action Organization. We
infiltrated Maroun al-Ras by foot, to control the local-
ity entrance and exit, and secure the main road which
connects it with Bint Jbeil. We knew that the infan-
try force that would reach Maroun al-Ras through the
mountain tracks would be exhausted, so we prepared
another brigade equipped with weapon, transported
by cars and led by Ammar (Atef Badwan), in order to
reach the town under the guise of mortar shelling from
the brigade led by the creative Fedayeen Raed Abdel
Hakim, may he rest in peace, and heavy artillery led
by Wassif Oreyqat. Our target was to maintain the mo-
mentum of the attack and rush with other groups in
the hunt for the forces of Haddad, to destroy them and
prevent them from retreating.

In less than an hour, we took full control of Ma-
roun al-Ras without any losses in our ranks, while 18
soldiers of Saad Haddad were killed. We seized sever-
al tanks and armored vehicles that we donated to the

24) According to the Norwegian medical team who
witnessed the battle from Bint Jbeil, it took place one
week earlier, on March 2. On March 8 they had already
left Bint Jbeil for Beirut, and celebrated Womens Day in
Damour.
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Left to right: Israeli coins, Israeli canned food (hummus) and ammunition was left behind by the SLA- soldiers when
they were chased from Maroun el Ras over the border to Israel on March 2, 1978. The pictures were taken by the team
from the Palestine Committee in order to document the cooperation between Israel and the South Lebanese Army
(falangist forces in the South). At that time, mainstream media in Norway denied or kept silent about this cooperation.

(Photos by Ebba Wergeland.)

Lebanese Arab Army, and we captured a soldier from
the forces of Saad Haddad. We remitted him to an offi-
cial in the Syrian Social Nationalist Party to hand him
over to the joint command in Saida. But he was tak-
en to Bint Jbeil square and executed following an old
pattern of abuse. The bodies of Saad Haddad’s soldiers
were placed in the Tibnin hospital for the Red Cross to
hand over to their families.

The North of Palestine as far as the eye could see,
was across the border, only meters away. The Zionists
bombarded the Maroun al-Ras for a full hour, perhaps
to give way to the withdrawal of the rest of the scat-
tered groups, and then a great calm prevailed in the
region before the storm began to loom on the
horizon.

The battle of Maroun al-Ras ended the mili-
tary role of the forces of Haddad and al-Chidiac.
The latter withdrew completely from the picture
and settled in the Zionist entity. He no longer
dared to return to the no man’s land, fearing the
families of the dead who accused him of throw-
ing their children into a losing battle.

Very sadly, some groups inside Fatah did not
like how fast the battle was settled. They began
questioning the facts, and news reached Abu
Musa and Abu Saleh making them doubt that the
battle had even taken place. They thought that
the military vehicles photographed by the news-
papers belonged to the Lebanese Arab Army.
Fortunately, the Communist Action Organiza-

tion had participated efficiently in the battle. Brother
Bilal, commander of the Central sector, played a dis-
tinguished role in coordinating artillery and providing
fire and logistical support, and these reactions were a
shock to him. The factions of the National Movement
and the Resistance welcomed the results and the cham-
pionships of their makers, to the extent that the com-
mander of the Lebanese Arab Army in the region, Ma-
jor Lugman al-Zein, said at a joint command meeting
that a statue should be erected in Bint Jbeil Square for
those heroes.

Israeli military vehicle left on Maroun el Ras after the battle on
March 2, 1978.
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THE ISRAELI INVASION OF 1978
AND THE DIALOG WITH THE AMAL MOVEMENT

The Dalal al-Moghraby operation and the Israeli invasion. Large losses in Bint Jbeil. Strict rules of revolu-
tionary behavior. The Irag-Iran war and the rise of the Amal movement. Extension of the safe base in Leba-
non. Armed clashes in the South 1980-1982. The settling in the Tire area. The political and social activities

to construct a revolutionary theory.

What about the 1978 invasion?

The battle of Maroun al-Ras changed the game. After
that, the Zionist enemy began to evacuate its nearby
settlements. They had to take matters into their own
hands. We no longer heard a single shot. We realized
that the border control had ended and that the time for
direct Zionist military intervention had come.

Days later, on March 8, the operation of martyr
Kamal Adwan took place. It was executed by martyr
Dalal al-Moghraby and her companions. Dalal was a
Fedayeen in the Jarmaq battalion, and a member of
the student organization in high schools, under the
leadership of Ali Abu Tawq. She participated in Beirut
battles, and moved with us from Baysour to Bint Jbeil.
In Beirut, young men and women of the battalion were
stationed together in the combat positions, but in the
South, the situation was more difficult. It was a tradi-
tion of the battalion to respect the customs and tradi-
tions of the locals. We tried to establish a full female
platoon, but the number of sisters was not sufficient
for that. Besides, Dalal was not satisfied working in the
dispensary, run by a group composed of Brother Dr.
Khaled coming from France and Brother Agba, Sister
Bahia and Dr. Ezzat. They were joined by some volun-
teers every once and then, such as our sisters, or med-
ical students from the American University, or foreign
friends.

The clinic not only provided medical services to
Bint Jbeil, but also to the border villages, including the
villages controlled by Saad Haddad. Therefore its mis-
sions were multiple. It was a medical contact point, a
communication point and a security point. Dalal was
not satisfied with this role, and she insisted that shed
go to the front bunkers and position there, so we al-
lowed her to do so during daytime. But she was not
satisfied with this role either. It seemed that her am-
bition was greater. She joined the group of Martyr
Kamal Adwan and went in the famous operation to
the Palestinian coast, and she wrote in her will a great
tribute to Martyr Saad Jaradat, the battalion and the
student organization.

After the occupation of Maroun al-Ras, Israeli mili-
tary intervention appeared to become a reality, and the
issue was resolved by the operation of Dalal al-Mogh-
raby. The front lines were completely silent and there
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was no movement in the Zionist settlements. The in-
habitants had been evacuated.

Around midnight on March 14, aerial bombard-
ments and artillery began on our positions in Maroun
al-Ras and Bint Jbeil, as well as on other sectors of
the South. I happened to be invited to attend a joint
command meeting in Saida on the day of the attack,
in the presence of Colonel Fakhri Chakoura, a Central
Operations representative. As I was on my way from
Bint Jbeil to Saida, messages from Brother Rebhi in
Maroun al-Ras started to arrive, indicating that for the
first time, he was seeing clear progress of masses of
Zionist military vehicles, and that the Zionists were
moving from the rear gathering points to their line
of deployment. When I arrived in Saida, I requested
that the meeting be quick. I informed the command
of the forces that the Israeli attack would occur in the
same night or at dawn as the enemy would not open-
ly deploy their vehicles unless they want to progress.
I left the meeting at about 11 pm because the cables
were accelerating, talking about the movement and
the huge number of the Zionist forces, and when I
almost reached the area of Borj Shamali, the heavy
aerial bombardment began, together with the throw-
ing of illuminating cartridges. I do not want to go into
the details of the military action that took place in the
area of Bint Jbeil, but I want to say that the young men
fought fiercely in Maroun al-Ras and all the positions,
and followed a clever plan to avoid the hostile shelling:
an enemy would expect you to pull back when they
bomb your site, we moved forward; In other words,
in Maroun al-Ras, our men moved towards the Leba-
nese-Palestinian border, so no one was hurt in the hos-
tile shelling. We even left the fortified positions of Bint
Jbeil and just moved forward.

As a result, when the enemy ran over in Maroun
al-Ras and entered our line, he found it empty. His sol-
diers started celebrating and dancing, our men shot
them as they were celebrating. According to Israeli
sources, the enemy admitted to the death of eight peo-
ple in Maroun al-Ras itself, and acknowledged heavy
casualties in Bint Jbeil. We had agreed on a regressive
combat plan. This plan required us absorb the first
shock and to remain in our positions as long as pos-
sible, then withdraw to another node, and then to a
third node and so on. Then we’d move to a large front



of several combat groups to confront the enemy, who
had somewhat progressed in the meantime and felt
that the node was small, which made them rush in
force, only to be surprised by a large knot confusing
their progress. We arranged this way of fighting so that
after Bint Jbeil there was a node in Beit-Yahun, then in
Kunin, then several groups in Tibnin, then a node in
Sultaniya, another in Shehabiya, and then a large front
in Jwaya and in Abbasiya.

Our losses in Bint Jbeil were huge. Absorbing the
shock cost us the martyrdom of most of the young
men who were in locations like Masoud Hill and Shal-
aboun Hill. Among them were Martyr Hassan Sharara,
Martyr Bashar Faour, Martyr Zeytoun Bazzi, Martyr
Abu Khaled Shehaymi, Martyr Abu Wajih Andari. The
burial places of these martyrs and their brothers were
discovered after the liberation of the South in 2000, a
monument was erected and a large celebration took
place in Bint Jbeil in honor of their steadfastness and
their fighting.

The battle of 1978 kept on until the last two points of
our fight: Jwaya and Abbasiya. In the latter, the enemy
committed a large-scale well-known massacre.”” How-
ever, our fighting in Abbasiya and Jwaya convinced
the Israelis that if they continued to advance to Tire
and the camps, this would mean that fierce fighting
would take place. Note that the battle from Bint Jbeil
to Jwaya and Abbasiya did not last a day or two, it took
eight days, and we and the brothers of the Central Sec-
tor were fighting in this segment under the leadership
of Martyr Bilal, a clever and courageous leader. This
plan prevented the arrival of the Zionists to the Litani,
and thus the Tire-Saida road remained open, and the
Palestinian camps remained out of the occupied area.
Here I would like to mention the remarkable role of
Martyr Ali Abu Tawq, who was in charge of the ad-
ministration at the time and never failed to supply all
the groups with weapons and ammunitions. We did
not lose a single arms depot. In one of the places, in
the orchards of Shibriha, the Israelis were 50 meters
away from the weapons cache there, and despite that,
Ali managed to transfer the entire cache. We did not
lose a single piece of weapon, did not cut off contact
with groups and did not lose supplies.

After the battle, the Zionist Chief of Staff Mordechai
Gur held a press conference in which he said that “the
units we encountered in Bint Jbeil and Maroun al-Ras
were different from all the units we encountered previ-
ously”, and he mentioned something that he described
as important, that they found in these sites education-
al leaflets and booklets with learned lessons from other
experiences. He concluded that they were facing a dif-
ferent quality of fighters.

25) A single airstrike on a mosque in Abbasiyya killed
75 Lebanese civilians.

Top to bottom

Young men from Bint Jbeil who confronted the Israeli
invasion 14-16 March 1978, in locations like Masoud
Hill and Shalaboun Hill. The group was led by Martyr
Hassan Sharara (front row, second from left). (Unknown
photographer.)

Many of the local defenders from Bint Jbeils gave their
lives in the unequal battle against the invading Israeli
army 14-16 March 1978. The burial places were discov-
ered in 2000, and a monument was erected in Bint Jbeil
in honor of their steadfastness and their fighting. The
text in Arabic: The martyrs from the heroic battles in
the hills of Shalaboun and Masoud in 1978, who with
their pure souls defended the land of Bint Jbeil. Soldiers
from the blessed Islamic defense forces liberated their
dead bodies from where the Israeli soldiers, unjust and
with contempt, had buried them. - 29 May 2000 (Year of
Liberation).
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When the 1978 war ended, we redeployed along
the coastline, and the UNIFIL came. We had fears
that the troops of Saad Haddad would deploy in the
same areas as the international forces, so we and the
Central Sector infiltrated these areas. We were led by
Martyr Bilal and the brigade of Martyr Abu Youssef
el-Najjar was led by Martyr Azmi al- Zghayyar. We
spread into the areas that the Zionists were leaving be-
fore the arrival of the UNIFIL and when these arrived
in the region, they were in front of a “fait accompli™
When they entered Deir Qanoun, they found out we
had a base there, then they entered Qana, and it was
the same there, and in Jwaya and Deirdaghayya.

Thus, we became a fait accompli, and it became
inevitable to form a liaison committee between our
forces and the UNIFIL. This committee was led by a
brave officer of our brothers in the Palestine Libera-
tion Army, Major Mohammad Timraz

During this stage there was a kind of confrontation,
as Saad Haddad’s forces tried to infiltrate to some bor-
der areas such as Majdal Silm and Qabrikha, with sup-
port from the Zionists, to have Wadi al-Hujair under
their control. In cooperation with the locals of these
villages and their elders, we sent groups who lived
there in the residents’ homes and received full supply
and support from them. At night, patrols were to go to
Wadi al-Hujair and the border strip. We were moving
in plainclothes and did not establish a fixed base. Every
few days we used to move a few people in plainclothes
from one house to another. In this way, we would not
need cars or military vehicles that could be watched.

We were able to prevent any deployment of Saad
Haddad’s forces into the UNIFIL area throughout this
period. We were able to maintain good relations with
the officers and even cooperated with them to trans-
port weapons and ammunition into the occupied ter-
ritory. We carried out dozens of transport operations
through the UNIFIL, and the Israelis discovered only
one of them. Major Mohammad Timraz had a major
role in arranging this in cooperation with Hamdi and
Abu Hassan Qassem.

You had a moral code in the bases, and in your rela-
tionship with the people. Can you tell us more about
this code?

The whole Fatah organization should work that way.
We focused on good behaviour, what we call revo-
lutionary rules of conduct, such as respect for the
people, their customs and traditions, humility before
them, and non-interference. We considered aggression
against people to be an aggression against us. We had
zero tolerance in this regard, even if we had to threaten
to use force, or at least hint at force to prevent such
acts. In every region we went, we started cleaning it
from drug dealers, thieves and rogues, and such in-
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cidents would quickly end. Transgression against the
locals was strictly prohibited regardless of the perpe-
trator.

We sometimes threatened to use force against Fa-
tah members, or other factions that assaulted the lo-
cals, or public property. We fought all attempts to bully
the people. This created a strong relationship between
the locals and us. In addition to a revolutionary code
of conduct, our positive position towards the “Move-
ment of the Dispossessed” (Amal), and our relation-
ship with Sayyid Musa al-Sadr, the presence of a num-
ber of our brothers in Fatah in each region we went to,
and our non- discrimination of the southern peoples
based on affiliation, intellectual or family alignments
were all helpful.

Like all other regions in Lebanon the South has its
own characteristics. In all regions there are divisions,
as in any society. There are conflicts and rivalry be-
tween families and political or partisan forces. Fami-
lies and villages may change their allegiance from one
faction to another and from one party to another. On
this subject, we did not take stands: we knew that we
had allies from the Palestinian factions and the Leba-
nese National Movement, but this did not mean that
we had to be hostile towards the political opponents of
these factions. For example, if Iraq engaged in a war
against Iran, that would not mean that we would allow
the Baath groups or the Arab Liberation Front (pro-
Iraq) to clash with the pro-Iranian Shiite Islamists. We
refused to be hostages of their stand. For us, Palestine
was the central cause, and the conflict with the Zionist
enemy and its agents was the main conflict, beyond
ideological, partisan, or religious affiliations.

At that time, the Amal movement was a rising force
in southern Lebanon. However, the parties of the Na-
tional Movement, especially the Communist Party,
considered the South as their main support base. They
believed that the credit obtained by Amal came at their
expense. This created a state of rivalry and conflict be-
tween the two sides that quickly turned into armed
clashes in many areas.

In Bint Jbeil we initiated a dialogue with the Amal
movement. It was an experiment that we went on to
conduct in all regions of the South. We had previous
experience with the Movement of the Dispossessed
from its first training camp, when the trainers were
from us. During the training, one of our brothers
was martyred with a group of members of the Amal
movement. During the eulogy, Imam Musa al-Sadr
announced the birth of the Regiments of the Lebanese
Resistance (Amal) as the military wing of the Move-
ment of the Dispossessed.

In addition to the experience of Kfar Shuba and the
common position with Imam Musa al-Sadr on many
issues concerning the civil war, we opened a discus-



sion and dialogue with Dr. Mustafa Shamran, who be-
came Minister of Defense in the government of Mehdi
Bazargan in Iran. He was the head of the Amiliyyah
Mihaniyyah? in Borj al-Shamali. Of course, there were
many fears and concerns in the Amal movement on
one hand, and in other movements, including Fatah,
on the other. So we convinced Dr. Mustapha Sham-
ran that they had to be present in the combat positions
facing the border forces. In fact, the Amal movement
started sending groups to join us in the area of Bint
Jbeil. They started to have permanent groups there,
and Dr. Mustafa Shamran himself came with these
groups. This partially broke the tension that existed at
that stage. During the 1978 invasion, the Amal move-
ment fought the Zionist enemy bravely in Beit Lif and
other areas.

At the same time, we were establishing relations
with other influential actors, and foremost the father
of Sayyid Mohamed Hussein Fadlallah, Sayyid Abdul
Raouf Fadlallah. We visited him regularly at his house
in Aynata with the chief of the municipality, the mayor,
and parties from the national movement. There were
no obstacles or objections to establishing such rela-
tions with all as long as this would serve social or civ-
il stability, prevent any negative friction, and achieve
steadfastness in the face of the enemy. Martyr Hassan
Sharara and his brothers from the region had a great
role in coordinating these contacts, in addition to his
distinctive combat and leadership role.

We were at first successful. However, at a later stage,
when the tension increased and the Iraqi-Iranian war
broke out, and the influence of the Amal movement
began to dominate, the tension lead to armed clash-
es in 1980-1982. Palestinian factions were involved in
these conflicts between the Amal movement and the
factions of the National Movement. Our position was
firm against those who committed abuses, no matter to
whom they belonged. For example, in the area of Kafr
Tibnit, members of the Amal movement killed two
members of the Arab Socialist Action Party, on their
way to their positions in Arnoun.

We took a firm stand, declaring that our fight was
against the Zionist enemy, and that such acts were pro-
hibited. We convinced the Amal movement to hand
over the two people who killed, to have them impris-
oned and brought to trial.

In other areas, however, there were attacks and
shelling of villages. For example, if a village was con-
sidered to be affiliated with the Amal movement, it
could be hit by rockets and mortars. To maintain our
decisive position, we were intervening even if the vil-
lage concerned was outside the area under our control.
We would dispatch a force to stop the infighting. But
this unfortunately changed our role.
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We had at that time the duty of holding the posi-
tion in the Beaufort castle, Kafr Tibnit and Horsh Nabi
Taher, because the main confrontation was with the
forces of Saad Haddad and the Zionist enemy.

But half of the battalion became preoccupied with
the disengagement in Ansar, Zefta, Marwaniya and
Sarafand. If there was a problem or tension in the re-
gion, we had to go and solve it.”” It was Mu’in, Marwan
or Abu al-Fath who would go and contribute to solving
the existing problem even if it was outside our mili-
tary liability, and this would take a lot of energy and
effort. For example, we had a full brigade in charge
of protecting the rear Castle line, which was located
on the bridge of Qaqaiyah, Jibshit and Zawtar. We ex-
pected that the Israeli attack would not come across
the Khardali Bridge but would flow around the UNI-
FIL forces and rush through Qaqaiyah. But we had to
transfer this platoon to resolve the clashes in Ansar,
enabling the enemy to cross the Qaqaiyah Bridge eas-
ily. The Israelis collided with the platoon only when it
left Ansar just after their invasion, at the entrances of
the village of Jibshit.

Do you mean that the concept of a “safe base” was
forgotten in southern Lebanon?

I think it was close to being forgotten. We were head-
ing in that direction, and we warned the Palestinian
leadership more than once that we were riding an un-
safe road. You cannot live in an environment that may
gradually turn unfriendly due to some bad practices
from your side, and due to the repercussions of the
Lebanese, Arab and international situation.

Martyr Marwan Kayali was forced to leave the
fourth conference of Fatah, held in Syria, to stop clash-
es that broke out in Zefta and Marwaniya. The reason
was that an officer who was the deputy commander
of a battalion in Fatah, sympathized with one of the
Lebanese groups and decided to attack the villages in
the absence of most of the officials at the conference.
Abu al-Fath and Khaled and Hussam had moved a
force from the battalion to stop the clash by force, and
Marwan returned to the conference after the clashes
stopped. He and Abu Ammar received a report on the
situation, and Abu Ammar sanctioned the officer.

This incident was not isolated from its context.
Some factions of the National Movement believed that
they could, with the help of some Palestinian factions
stop the growth of Amal and the rising Shiite tide. The
Iran-Iraq war spilled over on Lebanon through clash-
es, assassinations and tensions in daily relations. The
Palestinian leadership, headed by Abu Ammar, often

27) The brigade tried to go between when there was
tension between groups from Amal and from parties in
the National Movement.
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stood helpless and could not act. Sometimes I had
the feeling that he was turning a blind eye to certain
incidents, hoping that some of his allies were able to
achieve partial progress. Then within hours he would
make all his efforts to stop the spread of the fire and
encircle it. The Palestinian leadership was fully aware
of its interest in keeping the South out of internal fight-
ing, but I think they were not satisfied with the change
in the political mood in southern Lebanon and feared
the increasing influence of Syria and Iran. Neither were
they satisfied with the decline in their status in Leba-
non as a strong card in any political process expected.
With each internal clash, their room for maneuver had
narrowed to the point that they could no longer move
on secondary roads. They started to avoid these roads,
except for battalion’s cars, to avoid the dangers of arrest
and detention. Our mission turned into extinguishing
fires and encircling them, but we were unable to pre-
vent them from erupting. The general popular mood

PLO-soldiers helping the Norwegian medical team in
March-April, 1979, put up their message to the Norwe-
gian soldiers travelling southwards to Norbatt head-
quarters in Ebel es-Saqi. The message (in Norwegian)
is simple: “Don’t shoot the Palestinians.” On March 19,
1978, the UN Security Council had adopted resolutions
425 and 426 calling upon Israel to withdraw from all
Lebanese territory. The UNSC also decided to establish
the United Nations Interim Force in Lebanon (UNI-
FIL). The first Norwegian contingent started to arrive
on March 2, 1978. (Photo by Magne Olsen.)
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was beginning to change. But then 1982 war started
and redefined the equations.

Where did you go after the 1978 invasion?

We took position in the area of Qasimiya Zerariya, and
we were present behind the UNIFIL in Deir Qanoun,
Abbassiya, Deirdaghaya and Majdal Silm. During this
period we also resumed the training of the battalion
and established a permanent training camp that ab-
sorbed hundreds of fighters, and received a large num-
ber of new volunteers. The battalion became stronger
than before, despite the martyrdom of more than 30
brothers and cadres in the war of 1978.

At a later stage, the military units were redeployed.
We were responsible for protecting the coastal road
from Qasimiya to Zahrani. Before we took this task, the
Zionists had carried out ambushes on the coastal road.
Therefore, from our arrival, we did not have any fixed
positions. Our brothers in Kuwait sent us a quantity of
sleeping bags and we distributed them to the fighters.
At daytime we would spread over the highlands over-
looking the coastal road, and at night the machine guns
were in position on the highlands, while other units
were deployed on the beach at potential landing sites.
We were never surprised by a landing operation of the
Zionists because we had a very high level of caution and
preparedness. No single point was ever reported against
us in an area we were responsible for. We clashed with
them once. They were carrying out a landing operation
on the coast, but our people arrived at the same time.
There was a clash from close range, and the enemy re-
treated immediately. Two of our fighters, Samir Salem
and Nazmi Hijazi, were martyred, and the enemy suf-
fered severe casualties. When we combed the beach, we
found dozens of bloodstained bandages, as well as the
remains of a rubber boat that had been destroyed.

Another time, we heard explosions at a PFLP-Gen-
eral Command base in the Sarafand area. We rushed
to the site and found a number of martyrs. The cir-
cumstances were dubious, and the General Command
opened an investigation revealing the complicity of
one of its officials, who had put the base fighters to
sleep with sleeping pills. This was a security operation
aimed at an easy victory. It was repeated in the Na-
batiyeh area, where the Israelis raided a house on the
outskirts of the village Kfour and killed four members
of the Arab Liberation Front. We were surprised when
we discovered that these four were put in this place on
the same night as the raid. It became clear that there
was infiltration.

The enemy did not succeed in carrying out any raid
or ambush in any segment under our responsibility,
but this taught us the lesson that the enemy does not
attack you when you are alert and ready. They rather
resort to other means, such as the use of their huge



firepower to bombard with aircraft, artillery, and rock-
ets, or may put a car bomb near one of your sites, as
happened with us in the Nabatiyeh area.

In 1980-1982, the enemy resorted to the use of
booby-trapped cars, placing them in either crowded
places or near certain premises. This method was re-
peated in Beirut more than once. One was placed in
front of the Palestinian Planning Center where a num-
ber of brothers and sisters were injured, including Dr.
Mahjoub, and my wife, who was passing by. The Di-
vine Providence intervened to save Brother Abu Fadi,
the director of the center, because Brother Adel Abdul
Mahdi had paid him a visit at his house in the morn-
ing, which resulted in the car exploding minutes be-
fore he arrived to the center.

The enemy managed again to put a car near the
headquarters of the forces of Qastal in Saida, and their
aircraft bombarded the administrative headquarters of
the battalion on the coast in Aytaniya, in response to
an operation in the occupied territory. Our losses in
Aytaniya were limited to the destruction of the battal-
ion’s mobile library, which ended up as thousands of
papers and hundreds of books scattered among orange
trees.

One day we received information from inside the
border strip?® that the enemy and their agents were
setting up a booby-trapped car near the busy Monday
market in the city of Nabatiyeh. On this day, hundreds
of people from the region pour into Nabatiyeh for sale
and purchase. It was on November 21, 1980. We placed
a checkpoint on the Nabatiyeh- Qaqaiyah road under
the command of Brother Abu Ahmad of the Central
Security, and we informed the check-point of the Leb-
anese Arab Army stationed on the Qaqaiyah Bridge.

The command site of the battalion consisted of two
buildings facing each other, one for the reception of
guests and visitors and the second for administrative
transactions. At noon, a delegation from the Popular
Committees and Associations came together with com-
rades Maan Bashour and Bshara Merhej. An Egyptian
delegation was also present with comrade Mohammed
Taymour. Only Abu al-Khal and Rashid, who had re-
ceived the delegation, were at the headquarters. At that
moment, a pick-up broke down in the street between
the two buildings, and because we raised our fighters
to serve the masses, the transport officer Abu Yassin
and one of the technicians started to check the car and
found that one of its pieces needed to be replaced. The
driver went to fetch the required piece, while Abu al-
Khaleel decided to move the car away from the head-
quarters. At the same time Abu al-Fath arrived to meet
the guests. A few minutes later, a huge blast thundered,
causing a 10-meter large excavation, and destroying a
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concrete wall. But neither of us nor our guests were
hurt, as the car had been moved away at the right time.
It was a particularly good lesson for us. We estimated
that this car was in response to an operation carried
out in the West Bank.

Did the battalion have political and social activities?

Yes, we talked and had relations with all the social and
political groups or individuals, and every night we
had more than one occasion to socialize in the various
villages. This was a collective activity in which all the
cadres participated. In every place we were, we took
the initiative in meeting and communicating with the
various cultural, social, and religious personalities
and the youth. We considered ourselves as part of this
social fabric, and it was our duty to preserve it and
promote it, in addition to take care of the security,
preventing any aggression or transgression against the
people, building good relations with them, and partic-
ipating in their events. We also took care of the medi-
cal side because the South was deprived of the simplest
forms of medical care. We established a clinic in Bint
Jbeil, and Dr. Ezzat al-Asmar, one of our brothers in
Germany, volunteered to join through the medical ser-
vices of Fatah. He was preceded by Dr. Khaled from
France, Sister Bahia, Sister Dalal al-Moghraby and
Brother Agba. There was a dental clinic and a dispen-
sary in Nabatiyeh. The most prominent achievement
was transforming an abandoned hospital in Nabatiyeh
into a field hospital with the help of the Red Crescent.
This was when we established our special relationship
with Dr. Giannou, who managed the hospital efficient-
ly, and later moved with us to Tripoli and then to Sha-
tila with Martyr Ali Abu Tawq.

Were there ethical boundaries within these bases?

Of course, and we were strict on two levels: first in
the relationship with the people surrounding us, and
secondly in the rules of the revolutionary code of con-
duct. Assaulting the people, their property and their
security was forbidden, not only for ourselves but for
everyone. We imposed an atmosphere of security and
tranquility in the hearts of people wherever we would
be. I remember that we were in an orange grove on
the coast, and a few days later the owner of the or-
chard came and was surprised that its fruit had not
been touched, although our tents were set among the
trees, and the orange fruits were dangling from the
trees without being picked; We expected to be asked
to leave and were ready to carry out his eventual re-
quest. Some had had bad experiences in this area. But
we were surprised that he asked us to stay. We did not
take a single orange without the owner’s permission,
and he said it publicly. The owners of orchards used
to give us some of their fruits. I do not remember that
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any of us took fruit to his home. We strongly fought
the tendency to feel superior to the people, and we saw
ourselves as its soldiers and its servants.

We were applying and developing the rules of the
revolutionary code of conduct. We focused on per-
sonal development, building a Fedayeen fighter who
respects his people and appreciates its customs and
traditions. Experience taught us that a procedural flaw
may hide a security flaw. He who sells himself to the
enemy will follow his whims and desires and will not
be able to treat his colleagues according to a revolu-
tionary code of conduct. Of course, we distinguished
between this and those who came to our ranks with
some bad habits from their past. It was our pledge to
improve, educate and train, and this was a continuous
process in our ranks.

Inside the bases, playing cards was forbidden. Some
hostile raids occurred on other units while the fighters
were playing cards. The only game allowed was chess.
Alcoholic beverage was forbidden, and girls were ta-
boo, but we did care for our fighters to get married
and we gave them every possible help in this area. In
fact, there was no time for frivolities inside the bas-
es. Everyone was busy either in fortification works or
in training, in community service, in education or in
combat missions. And let us not forget to mention the
entertainment aspect of purposeful chatting evenings,
an additional occasion to strenghten the motivation.

This was inside the battalion, but would not the fight-
ers take leaves?

Of course, they needed time to rest away from the bat-
tles and the shelling. We even had to pressure some
to take leave and go rest a bit so that they could be
more efficient when they returned. But this required
implementation of a system, a mission that was carried
out by Martyr Ali Abu Tawq. Anyone married, whose
family resided in Lebanon or Syria, would go home,
and find that the catering car preceded him and left
provisions in kind in the house to compensate for the
low salary. As for single men, they would usually go to
Beirut where we rented a house in the Arab Universi-
ty area for fighters who did not have parents, like the
young people from Palestine. They were not allowed
to sleep in hotels or at friends’ places. There was an
officer - previously injured - overseeing the house,
which included a storage room for individual weapons
to use when needed, and about 30 beds. If you wanted
to go to the cinema, it meant that at 9:30 pm you had to
be home. This was because we did not want you to go
to a bar or to suspicious places. Having brothers taking
leaves in groups close to each other was simplifying
our task and turned the monitoring into self-control.
So, it was easy to adjust any deviance, to assess it and
follow up on it.
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What if someone wanted to drink wine at lunch dur-
ing their leave?

It was not recommended or acceptable. Even before
the action of the battalion and student organization,
when we became involved in the movement, these
practices stopped. Those who drank either quit or ab-
stained from drinking in public places. This applied
mainly to the officers. Our standards were strict: those
who wanted to do public work must adhere to our
rules. We did consider the individual cases, but we
were committed to care, assess, debate, and to practice
criticism and self-criticism.

Did you have libraries? Were there lectures?

We had a mobile library in a Mercedes truck that went
to the bases to lend books. We had wall posts in the
bases and dozens of cartoon posters written by the
fighters, because we were concerned with the pro-
cess of education, review, criticism, self-criticism, and
awareness of the political and military situation. The
book “Revolutionary ideas in the practice of fighting,’
is based on stories that each of us had actually lived
and was written by fighters inspired by their field ex-
perience. We compiled these stories. Brother Abu Fadi
edited them, and we published the book on behalf of
Martyrs Saad and Abu Khaled George, in their honor
and in appreciation for their pioneering role. The book
included dozens of topics in methods of work, organ-
ization, self-reform, approaches and politics. A quick
look at the book’s table of contents shows how impor-
tant it was to revolutionary education, as it includes
titles such as: “What are our true thoughts™; “Dedicat-
ing our lives for the people and the Revolution”; “The
ethical position™; “Daring to struggle against mistakes
and shortcomings”; “Getting rid of bad habits”; “Let
us break the trend of discontent”; “The tendency to

», <«

give lessons and tutelage”; “Against the search for tem-
peramental harmony”; “Two lines in the face of re-
sponsibility”; “Learning from simple things and from
those who put us in charge”; “Raising tolerance and

patience and addressing the problem of delayed shift

» o«

replacement”; “Telling the event as it is, without ex-

aggeration”; “The weapon to fight the enemy”; “Over-

come difficulties”; “We go where the hardest missions

» <«

are”; “Facing the fall of martyrs”; “Against the policy
of attack versus attack”; “Political line and cohesion”;

» <

“Weapon is not the decisive factor™; “Do not underes-

» «

timate the enemy tactically”; “To apply our ideas to re-

», o« €, «

ality”; “Every conflict is tortuous “; “Every action has

» o«

a main purpose”; “War has its laws and politics has its
laws”; “Horizontal action and focus”; “Follow-up and

» «

non-neglect”; “Seeking the fast gain”; “Every horse can

» <«

fall”; “Let us care about the study”; “How do we con-

», o«

duct an assessment”; “Clarifying the mission”



A look at these topics illustrates part of the educa-
tional program associated with practice. For example,
the title “The fighter should not neglect the care of his
wounds” took its origin in the case of Martyr Ali Abu
Tawq, who was wounded for the first time, and did not
give it time to heal. Instead, he went to the front posi-
tions on crutches, to help his comrades fill sandbags,
and then got injured again in the same foot that was in
the cast, and then suffered a permanent limp. Circum-
stances led him to be injured a third time in Nabatiyeh.
He was hospitalized for only a few days then returned
to his position long before his new wound was healed.
The matter was discussed in the brigade of Martyr Abu
Khaled at its weekly meeting, and they wrote a letter to
Martyr Ali that his body was the property of the Rev-
olution and the people and that he should not neglect
his wounds.

Each platoon had its daily program: the morning
line and guidance from the platoon commander. This
was done even in front positions. Then regular meet-
ings at various levels ranging from the group till the
battalion leadership, also at the level of the platoon
and the brigade. Even the group in the front line would
be sent a new shift from other groups after the end of
their own meeting, so that the meetings could be held
in a safe place. These meetings were not formal, but
were an opportunity for education and self-criticism,
studying the political and military situation and re-
viewing the tasks.

The periodical assessment of the situation was
something that distinguished us, and we built a lot of
our positions on it. We had the ability to predict the
timing and range of the enemy’s movement. We were
so obsessed with this that a cute story spread in our
ranks after the battalion leadership had been exposed
to an air raid. The essence of the story was that the

political commissioner of the battalion had estimated
that the enemy was not likely to carry out any offensive
because they were unable to obtain America’s green
light. The US-Zionist relations were strained by some
differences between Reagan and Begin. Of course, this
estimate was about the prospect of a large-scale op-
eration, or invasion, and was not referring to limited
operations.

But the fact is, that at the same moment that this
analysis was presented, we were attacked by Zion-
ist aircrafts following an operation inside the occu-
pied territory carried out by one of the brothers who
trained in our ranks. As he was lying on the ground to
take shelter from the raid, Martyr Marwan yelled in
his authentic Beiruti accent, denouncing the analysis.
But the political commissioner answered him: “If you
want my opinion, my analysis is well founded. It’s not
my fault that Begin is a fool who doesn’t understand
anything about politics”.

Were the rules of behavior intended to build a model
behavior and set an example among people, or were
they kept within the battalion?

There is no doubt that it reflected on the surround-
ing society, and the masses are usually very good at
distinguishing and evaluating. There was a consensus
among people that our behavior was a different expe-
rience, and over time our ability to influence the sur-
rounding environment was greater. This was evident
among the local people of influence. When they asked
Brother Abu Ammar to send the battalion to their re-
gions, he would repeatedly answer that he had one and
only one Jarmaq battalion. I believe that our revolu-
tionary code of behavior and our political line were
decisive for their appreciation of the battalion.
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OPENNESS TO ISLAM. THE INVASION OF 1982

The rise of Shiite Islam. The restriction of the Palestinian presence. The moving to the Nabatiyeh area. The
fortification of Beaufort Castle. Fighting against Israeli incursions. The battle of Beaufort Castle. Withdraw-
al and fighting in Mount Lebanon. The capture of Israeli soldiers.

Between the two invasions, the Islamisation move-
ment started and you opened up to Islam. Shiite Is-
lam began to rise at the same time as the Palestinian
presence in southern Lebanon started to decline. Do
you not find an irony in this?

The Islamic Revolution in Iran opened our eyes to
something new: the popular theory at the time was
that Islamists, or people who believed in political Is-
lam, represented a reactionary trend. But the Islamic
Revolution in Iran confirmed that there was a great
potential for Islam to be revolutionary and mobilize
energies and efforts, turn into progressive work, and
contribute to the process of liberation.

Our assessment was that we were facing a major
change in the region: The Shah had chosen to become
an ally of Israel and an Islamic revolution took place.
The concept of militant, progressive or revolutionary
Islam contributed to a change in the conflict with the
Zionist enemy and America in the region. From our
side, there had been an interest in Islam and Islamic
thought, especially because the people around us in
southern Lebanon was a Muslim Shii’ah society that
was directly influenced by the Iranian experience.

On the practical level, I did not feel that anything
had changed fundamentally in the battalion or in the
order of our work in general, because the prevailing
values remained the same and did not change. Some
Muslim brothers may individually have progressed
more than others in faith and performance of rituals,
especially because subjects such as Marxism or Mao-
ism were not on the table inside the battalion. The
nature of our work made all things go in a practical
direction, to such an extent that when we held a lead-
ership meeting, Ali Abu Tawq would be so tired that
he would fall asleep during the meeting.

There were probably more profound debates in
Beirut, in the countryside and among young people
at the universities, than in the bases. Some of the fight-
ers around us had already been through such a debate
about Marxism and Islam. The fact remains that it did
not affect the nature of the internal relations between
us, nor the nature of missions, nor the nature of the
work of the movement in general, especially in the oc-
cupied territory. After 1984-1985, things began to take
on different directions. My opinion was that a real
revolutionary project in our country that ignored the
popular Islamic culture and the great asset that polit-
ical Islam represent in people and did not see it as an
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essential instrument of incitement, struggle and jihad,
could not succeed. In other words, I was always in line
with the movement. The Saraya al Jihad® project was
also within this line, focusing on Palestine and mobi-
lizing all forces to fight the enemy.

How did this affect the battalion?

As a battalion, the issue was that the victory of the Is-
lamic Revolution in Iran was considered a new fight-
ing potential that could extend the life of the Revolu-
tion and the Palestinian struggle, as it would hasten
the victory and compensate for the loss of Egypt after
Sadat went to the Knesset and signed the Egyptian Is-
raeli treaty. Our value system was not different and did
not change, as it was basically close to the Arab-Islam-
ic culture. Several publications released by the organ-
ization were referring to this in periods prior to the
Islamic tide. In addition, our practical position was to
build the broadest front for the Resistance, and unite
the people with all its religious, doctrinal, and political
components.

There was in general, and long before the Islamic
Revolution, an atmosphere of fasting and worship. If
for any reason there was a breaker, he would refrain
from taking breakfast in front those who fasted, out
of respect for them. I did not feel that anything had
changed. Those among us who would not fast would
not proclaim it. Before the Islamic Revolution in Iran,
there were militants praying in mosques. After the
Revolution, their numbers may have increased.

Often one detachment in the battalion would all go
to the nearby mosque in a mixture of faith and com-
mitment to the line of the people and the line of the
masses. Islam influenced our ideas about the enor-
mous potential energies that could be mobilized to
join the Revolution, strengthen it, and get it closer to
the moment of victory.

What was the background for your move to the
Nabatiyeh area and Beaufort Castle?

We were stationed on the coastal area when the Zionist
enemy launched a massive operation targeting the po-
sitions of the Beit al-Maqdes brigade in the Nabatiyeh
area, including Arnoun, Beaufort Castle, Kafr Tibnit,
and Nabi Taher groves on the night of August 19, 1980.

29) Saraaya al-Jihad al-Islami (brigades of Islamic
Jihad)



Around 2:00 am, the commander of the forces, Hajj
Ismail, requested that a force from the Jarmaq battal-
ion be moved to the area of Nabatiyeh, to support the
brigade of Beit al-Maqdes. A force moved, led by Jihad,
who was helped by Martyrs Hani Kamal and Rassim.
Their move was cautious in anticipation of enemy am-
bushes, air strikes or artillery on the road. When the
force arrived at the entrances of Nabatiyeh at dawn,
it was clear that the enemy began to withdraw after
having showered Nabatiyeh with dozens of rockets
per minute. Jihad kept the force outside the city and
went to meet the commander of the Beit al-Maqdes
Brigade to receive instructions on the deployment of
his force. The situation was still unclear. The brigade
commander, Alaa, suggested that they go together to
the front positions and decide how to organize the re-
deployment.

The enemy had not been able to enter the Cas-
tle, but arrived at its doors, and the losses of Beit al-
Maqdes brigade were as large as 29 martyrs.

The commander of Qastal forces, Hajj Ismail, ar-
rived at the place, and was grieving for what had hap-
pened, despite the losses in the ranks of the enemy.
Our joined forces took place in all the positions of Beit
al- Maqdes, in the Castle, in Arnoun, Nabi Taher grove
and Kafr Tibnit, and we spread in the area in anticipa-
tion of air raids or artillery shelling from the enemy.

During Abu Ammar’s visit to the area, air raids re-
sumed, causing the martyrdom of two of our fighters
who had not followed Réssim’s (Yaqiib Sammir) in-
structions to deploy around the Castle.

By evening, al-Jarmaq had completed its transfer
to the Nabatiyeh area, which was now its responsibil-
ity. The castle was almost completely
destroyed, and it was impossible to
stay inside its remains, while the rest
of the positions were completely un-
equipped with trenches or fortifica-
tions. We were in the open, facing the
enemy machine with all its strength.
At the same time, Nabatiyeh town was
facing loss of security, and there were
many gangs and criminal groups.

We had to move immediately on
both fronts. We cleaned up the city,
which became safe again. Then, led by
Ali Abu Tawq, we started equipping
and fortifying our military positions.
We started a large and continuous
work that did not stop for one single
day over two full years.

How was fortification done?

It was a collective workshop centered around Ali
Abu Tawq. First it was necessary to find shelters for
the fighters and protect them from non-stop artillery
shelling. We resorted to the central workshop and
made ready-to-mount steel structures that we buried
in the ground. We took thousands of bags of sand that
the sisters from universities and secondary schools
and camps in Beirut and Saida packaged from the sea-
shore. The students at the Engineering school of the
American University retrieved an old structural plan
of the Beaufort Castle in the library of the university,
enabling us to learn its secrets and find out in which
places and directions we could dig down, despite the
Zionist destruction. They supervised the ongoing dig-
ging and fortification operations day and night. Doz-
ens of volunteers from various regions participated,
including a permanent group from the bodyguard of
Abu Ammar. We started digging trenches connected
to the steel structures. Then we built two reinforced
bunkers and began digging a tunnel under Beaufort to
protect ourselves from aerial bombardments.

In the Beaufort Castle there was a site that we called
“the airport”, a place that included a helicopter landing
pad. It was an open site indeed, the highest location
in the castle. To be able to take position there, we had
to dig a network of interconnected trenches and pro-
vide them with a roof so that, if Israelis were to throw
fragmentation grenades, people in the trenches would
be protected from the fragments. When we went out
to dig in this “airport” the enemy could monitor our
movements from the settlement of Metula. The men
found a way: they placed an empty container beside
the cement jib. When the enemy fired their rockets,

Abu Ammar (Yasser Arafat) visiting the brigade during the fortification of
Beaufort Castle 1980-82. Muin Taher to the left of AA. (Unknown pho-
tographer.)
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the men could hear the sound of the launching and
count the seconds between the firing of the rocket and
its strike. It usually required 30 to 40 seconds, so one
of the fighters would jump to fill the container with
cement, and spread it on the roof before returning to
the trench to take shelter. In this manner, we roofed all
the trenches there with cement.

We remained stationed in our positions and in oth-
er locations day and night, combining the combat duty
to defend our positions with the tasks of reinforcement
and digging, even under bomb shelling. So the fighters
wrote at the entrance to the Castle: “Built by Beaufort,
liberated by Saladin and transformed by Ali Abu Tawq.”

The castle witnessed the fiercest clashes during the
1982 war. The battles raged in every trench and every
corner. They were led by a Yemeni militant named Ab-
dul Qadir al-Kahlani. He and his men were all killed in
the face-to-face clash that lasted several hours. The Zi-
onist Channel Ten, as well as several other Zionist me-
dias, published films and reports showing the violence
of the fighting that took place. They described the size
of the fortifications, which surprised the enemy. This
bears witness to the Arab and the Palestinian fighters
for their courage, their daring and their persistence,
staying in the battle until martyrdom.

Do you want to expand further on the Nabatiyeh
phase?

In Nabatiyeh, the nature of the mission necessitated a
different armament and made us think about how to
provide local firepower in a large scale and in a flexible
way at the same time. We got part of the armament
through the forces of Qastal, and during a visit of the
chief Commander Abu-Ammar to the Castle, a brave
fighter named Abu-Fuad complained about the lack of
weapons. He pointed to some sites that needed heavy
machine guns and complained about the poor quality
of the military clothes, and how fast they would tear
apart during the intensive works of excavation and re-
inforcement. Other units had received military cloth-
ing from Algeria. And with great courage, the fighter
said to Brother Abu Ammar, “So Force 17%° are Feday-
een and we are not Fedayeen?” The deputy command-
er of the forces, Abdel Aziz, tried to silence him, but
I intervened and asked him to keep talking, because
Brother Abu Ammar liked to listen to what was go-
ing on in the minds of his sons. Brother Abu Ammar
patted the fighter on the shoulder and shared the last
Iftar of Ramadan with the men in the Castle without
any prior arrangement for it. Around midnight, a large
truck from Force 17, loaded with Algerian green Fotek
clothing and two 14.5-mm submachine guns arrived

30) Force 17. Special unit serving Abu Ammar
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with instructions from Abu Ammar to distribute them
to the fighters before dawn.

We had to put in place an operation plan that
would take into account the various possibilities. We
found ourselves facing three risks at the military level:
The first and most urgent was the non-stop artillery
and air raids against our positions, the enemy did not
give us a single chance to rest. So, we had to equip our
sites to provide the capacity to withstand and to reduce
our potential losses, while developing our firepower to
respond to it.

The second was to confront the enemy’s “special
operations™: attempts to sneak into our positions, or
to repeat a previous attack on our front line, or on our
back positions. We laid out a detailed plan to confront
this possibility and planted several minefields from the
Khardali Bridge to Kafr Tibnit. We would prepare to
ambush at night on the possible axes of the enemy’s
progress. The support unit spread its machine guns
during the day in different positions to counter ene-
my aircraft. As for the night, it would rush to the axis
Shawkin-Zawtar to protect the background of this axis
and prevent any attempt to land on it or surround it.
We learned a lesson from our experience on the coast
and applied it in Nabatiyeh: the enemy does not attack
an alert position.

The third eventuality was that the enemy would ad-
vance and occupy the entire region. There were two
possible avenues: The first was across the small castle
Deir Mimeis in the direction of the Khardali Bridge up
to Kafr Tibnit. The second was through the area of the
UNIFIL from the region of Taybeh in the direction of
the Qaqaiyah Bridge up towards Jibshit, and then rush
to Nabatiyeh and across the Zawtar plain to Arnoun
and the Citadel and Kafr Tibnit.

Our assessment was based on the second eventual-
ity. In a comprehensive war involving all of southern
Lebanon, nothing would prevent the enemy from in-
vading the areas of the UNIFIL. They would not show
any resistance to the progress of the enemy. In that
case, the Khardali Bridge would be a minor axis for
the attack. But if the action was limited to targeting
our sites in the Nabatiyeh area only, the Khardali axis
would be the main focus of the attack, with the land-
ing of the enemy forces behind our positions in Zaw-
tar plain. We considered these possibilities and set up
an anti-tank squad at the top of the Qaqaiyah Bridge,
where the checkpoint of the Arab Army of Lebanon
was stationed. The task of this squad was to confront
the enemy forces before they could cross the bridge,
and try to blast them to impede their progress for as
long as possible.

We were convinced that the battle would start at
that point. But several weeks before the invasion,



clashes broke out between the Amal movement and
the Communist Party in the town of Ansar, involving
mortar shells. We were asked to intervene and stop it.
There were fingers playing in secret, as some of the
skirmishes continued even after we arrived in the
town and imposed a cease-fire between the parties.
From time to time, we had to crack down on attempts
to repeat the clashes and infiltrate gunmen into the
town, and this drained the support unit’s efforts for
weeks. Finally, the calm prevailed in the town, even
though in a state of constant tension, so we withdrew
a large part of the force to return to its original duty of
protecting the frontline background. But at the insist-
ence of the locals, and out of fear of renewed clashes,
we had to keep a mobile squad in town equipped with
75 mm guns.

So we lost our position in Qaqaiyah, and we lost
the possibility of an early response to the progress of
the enemy. When the invasion began, this squad was
in the town of Ansar and immediately moved towards
al-Qaqaiyah. However, it clashed with enemy forces
halfway through the entrances to the town of Jibshit.

On the political level, we continued our efforts to
extinguish fires, but we were unable to prevent them
from igniting. Martyr Hasan Badr al- Din in Nabati-
yeh carried out the same role as Martyr Hassan Sha-
rara in Bint Jbeil in terms of contact with the locals,
the stakeholders, and the political forces. The house
of Martyr Hassan was a warm nest for us, and with
him, relations grew and developed with the Martyr
Sheikh Ragheb Harb and with a large group of those
called during that period “the pilgrims”. Most of them
later became the founders of Hezbollah. Hassan was
martyred at the gates of the village of Jibshit on June
6, 1982.

How were the battles during the invasion of 1982?

On June 3, 1982, a group belonging to Abu Nidal tried
to assassinate the Israeli ambassador in London and
inflicted serious wounds. The Zionist enemy exploited
the incident as an excuse to wage war in Lebanon. It
had become obvious, throughout the preceding peri-
od, that preparations were under way for a large-scale
war in Lebanon. Some, including Brother Abu Am-
mar, called it the “Accordion War”, meaning the arrival
of the Zionist forces in Beirut in coordination with the
Christian Lebanese Front.

On the morning of June 4, the enemy began an
aerial, artillery and missile bombardment that in-
cluded all of Lebanon, even reaching Beirut. For two
full days, the shelling of our positions in Nabatiyeh,
Kafr Tabnit, al-Horsh and Qal’at al-Shagqif (the Castle)
lasted day and night and did not stop for a single mo-
ment. Despite the ferocity of the shelling, none of our

fighters died. On the morning of June 6, the fighters
were able to shoot down a Sky Hawk aircraft as it was
preparing to raid the Castle. The plane fell in the Kafr
Tibnit area. Residents rushed towards the pilot, who
landed in parachute and they would almost have killed
him without the swift intervention of Martyr Ali Abu
Tawq. The pilot, named Aaron Abik’azi, was captured,
but Ali realized the enormity of the task he was en-
trusted with. He immediately and without hesitation
moved the pilot to Beirut where he handed him over to
the military security. The fighters rejoiced and hoped
that their brothers, heroes from operations inside Isra-
el, as well as other prisoners would be released and be
among us soon. Unfortunately, the pilot was liberated
as part of a deal for PLO to get out of Beirut.

On the morning of June 6, the hostile shelling
reached its peak, and we could no longer count mis-
siles, rockets and air raids on the outposts. At noon,
reports came from the Beaufort Castle on the progress
of large enemy forces through the area of Taybeh, who
was under the control of the UNIFIL, and on their
fast move through those areas. At the same time, the
enemy also rushed through the UNIFIL forces in the
direction of Tire and its camps where there was a con-
frontation between their forces and the militia units,
the Martyr Abu Yusuf Najjar battalion led by Martyr
Azmi al-Zghayyar, and the battalion of the central sec-
tor led by Martyr Bilal, both martyred during that war.
It became clear that the enemy had invaded the entire
area of the UNIFIL and proceeded to advance towards
our positions. The UNIFIL did not resist or object in
any way.

At this moment we moved the group stationed in
Ansar in the direction of Qaqaiyah, but it clashed with
the enemy forces on the outskirts of the town of Jib-
shit. It was an uneven battle between three cars loaded
with 75 mm anti-armor guns, a car simply equipped
with a machine gun of 14.5 mm and an enemy force
equal to a fully armed regiment. Our fighters managed
to destroy three tanks and two soldiers’ transport-
ers. Our cars were destroyed. A brother named Saleh
el-Bahreyni was killed. About 14 fighters were wound-
ed and taken to the hospital in Nabatiyeh.

What about the Beaufort Castle, Qal’at el Shaqif ?

Fighting in all locations of Nabatiyeh, Arnoun, al-
Horsh and Kafr Tebnit was about fighting in and
around the Castle. The battle was comprehensive, the
enemy'’s attack was wide, and included all the axes.
Our combat plan was based on the ability of all our
sites to support each other by fire and through direct
engagement with the enemy. The castle had three main
sites, each equipped with a group of the battalion: The
first group was positioned east of the Castle in the “air-
port” area.
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Beaufort Castle, 1982. (Photo by
David King, https://www.flickr.com/
photos/david5king/1150710679)

Entrance to the exhibition in Beaufort
Castle, November 2019. The Israe-

lis and SLA (South Lebanon Army)
occupied the area in 1982 and stayed
there until the end of the occupation
in 2000. As long as renovation is still
ongoing, its main attraction is the
view reaching as far as Israel and

the Golan Heights. (Photo by Ebba
Wergeland.)

Beaufort Castle on top of the steep southern slope,
November 2019. The castle was left in a state of disrepair
when the Israeli forces abandoned it in 2000. In the Cru-
sader period the castle, located on a ridge overlooking
the Litani River at a height of 670 m above sea level, was
an important strongpoint in the hinterland of Sidon and
Tyre. With the help of the Kuwait Fund for Economic
Development, a $3 million project to renovate the castle
was initiated. Source: Daily Star, August 10, 2010. (Pho-
to by Ebba Wergeland.)
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It was led by the Yemeni martyr, Abdul Qader
al-Kahlani, who, along with all of his group members,
was killed in a fierce battle, taking place from a ditch
to another, inside trenches, through battles from a dis-
tance of no more than one meter, and even through
hand clashes at times.

That was when the killing of Johnny Harnik, took
place. He was one of the commanders of the Golani
battalions, and commander of the attack. The enemy
suffered heavy losses. Taking control of this site took
them more than twelve hours of continuous fighting,
let alone two days of preliminary bombing. The sec-
ond group in the center led by Saad, clashed with the
enemy forces advancing from Arnoun. They lost a 14.5
mm machine gun, destroyed by a direct hit from a
tank shell; the third group west of the castle was led by
Martyr Réssim (Yacoub Sammour), the commander
of the castle, who was martyred there. In each group
there were approximately seven or eight individuals.

How did the fighting take place in the Citadel?

The attack began at noon and the first wave was bro-
ken in the Zawtar plain and at the gates of Arnoun,
where the attack commander Moshe Kaplinsky got
injured. The second wave took place after the Gola-
ni forces were mobilized to support the paratroop-
ers and reached no more than the midpoint between
the Castle and Arnoun. The third wave started when
Johnny Harnik decided to climb the high ground on
foot, leaving behind his tanks and armored vehicles.
Those were an easy target for our fighters and became
a cemetery for the enemy soldiers. This attack failed as
Harnik himself was killed in front of the first trench
around the evening hours. The fourth wave was at 11
pm, led by Lieutenant Colonel Dov, and at that time
Réssim and Saad requested that the Qal’ah (the Cit-
adel) itself be shelled, as enemy tanks and armored
vehicles had gathered at the gates after all the fighters
at the eastern site (the “airport”) were martyred. Our
rockets launchers fired two consecutive rounds at the
gates of the Castle. Under the direction of the Syrian
reconnaissance officer’!, storm and thunder broke out.
The rockets hit a number of vehicles and the enemy
withdrew completely from the Castle. This allowed
some of the fighters from both sites to withdraw to-
wards the Litani River, carrying some of the wounded,
while others clashed again and were martyred. Be-
tween each wave, aviations repeatedly raided the Cas-
tle and its surroundings.

31) In 1981 the Syrians had asked to position a re-
connaissance group of four fighters in the Castle. Three
members of the group withdrew when the war started in
1982, but their commander remained and fought there
till the end.

It has been said that the enemy used poisonous gas
when they stormed the castle?

According to Saad, the commander of the Central
Group, parachutes were dropped from the aircraft
at noon. Réssim thought that it was a paratroopers’
landing on the Castle. The fighters spread and began
shooting at them, and when the parachutes reached
the ground, it turned out that it was bombs that emit-
ted smoke when touching the ground. Saad said that
he was at that moment under the influence of some
kind of indifference. He no longer knew what was go-
ing on around him, and despite the severe risk due
to the spread of cluster mines, he rushed to the par-
achutes that landed, thinking he would use them as
anti-mosquito nets for the fighters. It seems that the
direction of the wind did not help the enemy, because
these bombs only affected the members of the Central
Group and for a limited time.

Was there a decision to stand till the end?

In the invasion of 1982, our decision was to cling to the
Beaufort castle and not to withdraw from other sites
of Nabi Taher grove, which we considered, in the mil-
itary language, as the most important site because it
protected the castle.

It was our decision to cling to Beaufort Castle, and
it was known that the fighters who were stationed
there did not want to withdraw when the other sites
were to help the people in the Castle to hold on till the
end. The men in the Castle would fight until the last
breath, and indeed, the Resistance fighters were fight-
ing until the last person, until martyrdom. The nature
of the castle’s location made it very difficult to pull out.
There is a steep slope, then the one road to the castle,
and you must protect this road so you can fight from it.
The few brothers who managed to pull out after they
did their duty withdrew in the direction of the river
across a very rough road, and it took them more than
24 hours to cross the slope and access the river.

The leader of the Castle group was Yacoub Sam-
mour (Rassim), one of the students that we had sent
to the military college. He led 34 young Palestinians,
Lebanese and Yemeni, an Egyptian fighter and two
Turkish fighters. Most of them were martyred after
a devastating Israeli bombing and a heroic battle, in
which the Israelis suffered unexpected losses. When
Begin and Sharon came to the Castle, Begin was sur-
prised and upset by the number of Israeli casualties in
their first clash in southern Lebanon. After he boarded
the helicopter, the Israelis discovered that a Palestini-
an fighter was still alive. The wounded fighter moved
and shot with his rifle without hitting anyone. They
shot back and killed him. Imagine if this incident had
happened a few seconds earlier, when Begin was still
in the Castle.
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Several days later, the enemy asked the residents
of the nearby village of Yohmor to bury the martyrs.
Our brothers in Yohmor told us that they buried 30
martyrs in a mass grave. Some of the martyrs’ bodies,
such as Rassim’s, were found after the enemy with-
drew in 2000. His remains were transferred to Ain
al-Hilweh, where he was buried with all due honors.
Other martyrs’ remains were only discovered during
the reconstruction of the Castle in 2013, as the battle
had been fierce, and included every inch of the region,
and the martyrs spread throughout. In that battle, a
hostile helicopter was shot down from low altitude.
Martyr Abu Raad al-Yemeni shot it from a 37-mm ma-
chine gun after receiving a signal from the Castle that
determined the course of the aircraft. The enemy set
up a fire wall around the place where it came down. It
was later found that five senior officers were on board.
They had been turned into a pile of ashes.

There were nearly 50 martyrs in the Castle, Ar-
noun, Kafr Tibnit, Nabatiyeh and Jibshit, and a num-
ber of others were injured. No one was captured and
no one surrendered.

What happened to the men after the battle on Beaufort?

The following day, the men started to withdraw in
groups. No one knew where the limits of the Israeli
invasion would be. They began to evacuate positions
in Nabatiyeh and Nabi Taher and Kafr Tibnit and
pulled out gradually through Iglim al-Tuffah. The day
after, an ambush was set up against the enemy along
the main road between Deir al-Zahrani and Habbush,
and two hostile vehicles were destroyed. The with-
drawal was organized and contact with all groups was
maintained, thanks to the courage and perseverance
of Sister Khadija Marwa, whose home in Zerariya we
equipped with a radio station that continued to broad-
cast despite the enemy’s occupation of the town. She
kept doing her duty until all groups arrived safely in
the mountains and the Bekaa. The pull-out operation
lasted four or five days before the men had returned to
reinforce the mountain area. At that time, Abu Jihad
agreed to the proposal to send Hamdi and Mahmoud
al-Aldl to organize the resistance in the mountain re-
gion to confront the rampant Zionists. In the Bekaa,
the men’s new mission became the integration and
training of the new volunteers, reinforcing the moun-
tain area, supplying Beirut, and launching operations
behind enemy lines. The first operation documented
by Ali Abu Tawq in his diary was on June 23 in the
‘Ammiq plain.

These operations against the Israelis were ignored
by everyone and no one spoke of them except one
single book by Muhammad Hamza, where he docu-
mented all the messages that were sent to the central
command of various military units and followed up on
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what was published by the media and Zionist sourc-
es. If we review the Hebrew sources, we discover that
in the period from mid-end June 1982 until the end
of 1983 and the battles of Tripoli, the Zionists’ losses
in these operations were greater than the size of their
losses in the entire invasion. It is also remarkable that
the size of their losses in that year (1983) is equivalent
to the size of their losses in all subsequent Resistance
operations until their withdrawal from Lebanon. The
reason is that the victory obscured the enemy’s judg-
ment, they did not organize themselves, and spread
on a very wide area of Lebanese territory, which made
them an easy target.

Why did no one talk about these operations and
highlight them?

I think that it had been decided to remove the Pales-
tinian Resistance from Lebanon. Therefore, it was not
in anyone’s interest to talk about the Resistance oper-
ations in Lebanon, whether during the siege of Beirut
or after leaving Beirut.

Second: the scission®? was taking place. Under these
circumstances, it was not considered right to speak
about any Resistance operations that could weaken the
rationale behind the scission or push towards unifying
efforts against the Zionist enemy. It was required to re-
inforce the schism. Unlike what was expected from us,
we were keen not to stop the operations against the en-
emy, to shed more light on the direction that we ought
to follow. We were separating the two issues.

Third: The Resistance in Lebanon was supposed to
follow a special pattern, and you should not speak of
the Resistance in a different pattern. The main topic
of conversation was the Wimpy operation®. No one
spoke of the Aley bus operation, planned by Martyr
Abu Ali Tawq in collaboration with our brothers in
the mountains, and which caused 60 Israeli casualties.
Nor did anyone speak about the bus of Aramoun* and
Martyr Kamal al-Na'lawi (Abu Ali), and dozens of oth-
er operations, including the capture of eight Zionist
soldiers in Ruwaysat al-Ballit without firing a single
shot. This is the largest capture in the history of the
Resistance, and yet, it went unnoticed. Ali Abu Tawq
left us a notebook assessing more than 40 operations
behind the lines, carried out by the battalion’s fighters
and our brothers in various areas. These operations
included the Beqaa, the mountain, the Chouf and the

32) The scission within PLO (Fatah)

33) The Wimpy Operation was an attack on Israeli
soldiers in Hamra, a neighbourhood in the west of the
Lebanese capital Beirut on September 24, 1982. (Wiki)

34) The Aley and Aramoun operations were two main
operations in the mountains, directed against Israeli
military buses.



ARAFAT CONFIRMS
SHUF COMBAT ROLE

Says Palestinian Forces Are
in the Lebanese Mountains
Backing Druse Militia

By E. J. DIONNE Jr,
g ta The Srw Vet Timan

BADDAWIL, Lebancn, Sept. 18
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New York Times, September 19, 1983. Arafat confirms that Palestinian forces are present in the Lebanese mountains.

South regions, in addition to those carried out by the
other units.

Who carried out the capture of the soldiers, and how
were the soldiers captured?

A patrol from the group of Mahmoud al-Aldl car-
ried out the operation, with the help of the mountain
groups, comrades of Hilal Raslan (Abu Mahmoud). In
those days we always had some bases we could rely on
for support and reconnaissance.

The men infiltrated into an Israeli hideout. The sol-
diers were relaxed, they thought that the newcomers
were the shift change or reinforcement team, or mem-

bers of the Lebanese Forces, as our men were speak-
ing Hebrew and French. (The leader of the group, Issa
Hajjo, had studied in Algeria.) Our men took their
weapons and captured the first four, then arrested the
other four inside their dormitory. They made them
walk in front after having handcuffed them and loaded
their weapons on their backs. But the main question
was, how to transfer them to the Beqaa amid Syrian
checkpoints? Hamdi asked one of our brothers in
the mountain (Muhammad) to contact a Syrian unit
commander, an officer from Jabal Al Arab, to facili-
tate the passage of the group to the Beqaa. The officer
shirked politely and said to him: “I have not heard
anything from you about this. Don’t worry, the men
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will manage.” They went to the Popular Front-General
Command?® and were allowed to use their vehicles to
transport them to the Beqaa. In return for facilitating
the passage through Syrian checkpoints, the Popular
Front took two of the prisoners.

Things went well, and the prisoners were ex-
changed during the siege of Tripoli.** Not only did the
exchange release all the prisoners in Ansar, but it also
led the enemy to close the Ansar detention camp com-
pletely, and to release some prisoners detained in Pal-
estine. As for the General Command operation, they
used the two captives they had to unleash a much larg-
er number of prisoners in the Israeli prisons.”

These two prisoners were first transferred by the
Popular Front-General Command to Damascus. As
for us, the problem was where to keep the captives?

35) Popular Front for the Liberation of Palestine -
General Command (PFLP-GC)

36) The PLO negotiated the release of 5900 Lebanese
and Palestinian prisoners from the Ansar camp in South
Lebanon, in return for the repatriation of six Israeli sol-
diers captured by Fatah in September 1982. This propa-
ganda coup for Arafat was announced on November 24,
1983, and prompted the Syrians to cancel their planned
military offensive against PLO in Tripoli and enter into
protracted negotiations about the PLO-evacuation from
Tripoli which took place in the end of December.(Yezid
Sayigh 1997 p. 573.)

37) Popular Front for the Liberation of Palestine

- General Command (PFLP-GC). Their operation
became known as the Nawrass operation, the first oper-
ation that led to prisoner exchange with Israel
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How do we keep six Israeli soldiers in the Beqaa, at a
time when we were trapped between Shtoura and the
entrance of Saadnayel-Taalabaya, an area that does not
exceed two kilometers, and where hiding six Israeli
soldiers is quite difficult. Where to take them, with the
prospect of dissent and fighting between dissidents,
and the Syrian army who wanted the prisoners, and
the Israelis behind us who wanted them too?

The issue of Hamas’ Israeli captive Gilad Shalit had
raised the tension of the Zionist security establish-
ment to the level of hysteria, and the success of Ha-
mas in keeping his location secret was considered a
great achievement. We had six captives; how did we
hide them? If we hid them in a given location and put
a guard to watch them, this would soon be revealed
by the mere presence of the guard, or just by send-
ing food, or bringing a doctor in. Bottom line, we hid
them with the locals. We returned to the mass line,
relying on the people. We distributed them to the lo-
cals’ homes. They lived in a room, ate the food of the
house, none of us came with them or inspected them
regularly. If neighbors noticed something, we changed
their places. We hid them for more than a year, which
is not a short period. But the circle around us began
to narrow, and the Beqaa was no longer a safe area.
So, we fled to Tripoli despite the heavy checkpoints.
We took them one by one and brought them to Tripo-
li. To hide six soldiers within a two-kilometer circle is
in itself a major achievement. But no one today talks
about the operations behind the lines, nor of the oper-
ations of the Palestinian- Lebanese Resistance during
1982-1983.



Are Hovdenak served as coordinator for Norwegian health workers going to Tripoli in November 1983.
They answered a call from Arafat for medical support, when the PLO was besieged there in November
1983. These are photos and excerpts from AH'’s diary November 5, 1983.

Black smoke from the area around State Oil Refinery. The Beddawi camp was shelled indiscriminately on the
Two oil tanks have been hit. Soon the smoke covers the third day of the attack (November 5) by Abu Musa’s
north-east side of the Baddawi camp, the whole sky is forces. This picture was taken from the PRCS (Palestini-
black. The insurgents can take cover behind the wall of an Red Crescent) hospital of the camp, hours before the
smoke, bombarding the camp witout beeing seen from hospital was evacuated. (Photo by Are Hovdenak.)

inside. (Photo by Are Hovdenak.)

- I take pictures of several families on their way out of Two small children are running after a mother,who has
the camp, carrying with them their main belongings. no hand free to reach out for them, as she is carrying the
(Photo by Are Hovdenak.) mattress on her head. (Photo by Are Hovdenak.)

Suddenly, there is shooting in the air outside the
hospital. A tank drives up in front of the build-
ing, and the men on board are smiling, showing
the V-sign. It turns out to be a group from Abu
Musa, but they have brought their Syrian tank
with them to join Arafat’s side. (Photo by Are
Hovdenak.)
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THE SPLIT AND THE ISRAELI
WITHDRAWAL FROM THE MOUNTAINS

Trying to prevent the split in the PLO. Military positioning in the mountain. Retreating in Tripoli. The war of

the camps and the martyrdom of Ali Abu Tawq.

Amidst these operations, you were surprised by the
scission in Fatah. What is your opinion about it?

During the split, we tried to mediate and told the
dissidents: let us talk and understand each other. We
formed a committee for dialogue and agreement with
Marwan Kayali, Mazen Ezzedine, Abboud Abu Ibra-
him and others, but we did not succeed. It was clear
that there was some decision that led dissidents to at-
tack our positions and reject any dialogue. They began
to attack the positions of the Yarmouk forces. We sent
reinforcements to some of these sites. For example,
in Deir Zanoun, three young men from the battalion
were killed as we were trying to defend the headquar-
ters of the Yarmouk forces.

After that, we felt that things were getting out of
control, and that the Syrians and the dissidents would
be able to penetrate most of the units. They only need-
ed three or four men, who could shoot from the heart
of the unit, then the others could attack from outside,
cause confusion and take the unit. We made a bold de-
cision to break down all the units in the area where
we were stationed and recompose them. At that time,
a large part of our sites in the mountain were devoted
to the operations behind the lines of the Zionist en-
emy. We had positions in Sofar, four or five bases in
the mountain, and we kept them during the battle of
the dissension. But I can say that the pace of opera-
tions against the Zionist enemy rose during that peri-
od. We dispersed all the military units in the area and
re-formed them to include some of our men in each
unit and in each location, and there was no longer the
possibility of a breach.

This was also achieved by the existence of elite
leadership cadres acting with great awareness and a
high degree of national responsibility.

At this point, the military expansion of the dissi-
dents stopped, after they had tried in vain to encircle
us by occupying the area of Jdita. Ismail Anabah was in
charge of the liaison with the Syrian army. They were
already in Deir Zanoun and Masnaa, and if they were
to take Jdita, and cut off our positions in the mountain,
we would be trapped in Taalabaya and Saadnayel. So,
we repelled the attack in Jdita. We captured 90 peo-
ple the same night, left their weapons with them, then
returned them the next day. Our position had always
been defensive, and we had never initiated an attack.
The battle of Jdita ended the possibility for the dis-
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sidents to obtain a military solution, so the military
schism stopped spreading in our direction.

You have a critical attitude towards the leadership
and its policies. Why did you not stand with the dis-
sension, but collided with it instead?

Yes, we had many critical remarks to the leadership
approach, but we were careful not to be involved or
become instrumental in any internal conflict. When
the dissension broke out, our main concern was to
prevent Palestinian-Palestinian fighting and to try to
solve any problems through dialogue and mutual un-
derstanding. We never fought except in defense of our
positions, and it was clear to us from the outset that
the dissension would weaken the Palestinian Resist-
ance and bring it, as well as the dissidents themselves,
out of the arena of struggle against the enemy in Leba-
non. This is precisely what happened later.

Even after the outbreak of the hostilities, we tried a
lot. We met several times with Abu Musa, Abu Khaled
al-Amleh and Abu Akram, in the presence of members
of both the Popular and Democratic Fronts. We told
them: “You say that Abu Ammar wants to withdraw the
troops from the Lebanese arena, and we do not want
the troops out of Lebanon, and we want to continue
the armed struggle. Why don’t we form on the spot
a joint battalion, you and us, and let the commander
be chosen from your side and his deputy be Brother
Marwan. And let nothing else matter for this battalion
but to fight the Zionist enemy. Let us issue a joint state-
ment declaring the end of the crisis of dissent and the
unity of the ‘Assifah forces, directing our joint efforts
towards the enemy. Let us declare that these forces will
not leave the Lebanese arena and the conflict and call
for the return of the rest of the forces that were taken
from Beirut. Let us call on the Palestinian leadership
to convene an urgent conference to resolve any inter-
nal problems within a specific period.”

But it turned out that their decision was not in
their own hands, as the meetings stopped after this
one. There was also a major development in the re-
gion because the Zionists decided to withdraw from
the mountain area. At this point, we decided to move
our troops and flee the schism hostilities by going to
the mountains where we could pursue and fight the
retreating Zionist forces. We created a joint force with
the Democratic Front, the Popular Front and the Pal-
estine Liberation Front, and we formed a joint Pal-



estinian leadership, while the dissidents allied them-
selves with the PFLP - General Command and wrote
on their cars: “The back-to-Beirut troops.”

We had a problem: the Yarmouk forces led by
Brother Nasr Youssef, were isolated, and besieged by
the Syrian army in Rayak area, so it became imperative
to evacuate this force to areas where the Syrians could
not follow us. Ali Abu Tawq supervised the transfer of
the Yarmouk forces from Rayak to our area, building a
bridge of sewage pipes over the river.

Our men arrived to the neighborhood of Hay
es-Sellom and Shwayfat, near Beirut, and the Syrians
realized that the forces of Yarmouk had escaped the
siege and joined us. Abu Ammar knew that we were in
Shwayfat and Hay es-Sellom neighborhood and that
the road to Beirut was open. He came to Tripoli, the
forces of Abu Musa and the PFLP — General Command
groups were isolated and had no longer any noticea-
ble presence. Even when you went to the operations
room established by Walid Jumblatt, you soon realized
that they were collaborating with the Palestinian Re-
sistance, with the joint force that we had established
with Mamdouh Nawfal, Marwan and Abu Ahmad
Fouad, because we were the effective force working on
the ground. But the arrival of Abu Ammar to Tripo-
li scared the Syrians because Hafez al-Assad felt that
things began to slip out of his hands. He immediately
decided to besiege us and drive us out of the Beqaa,
and the Syrian tanks moved in to besiege us there.

This conflict in the Beqaa and Tripoli with the
dissidents and with the Syrian army was unfortunate
because it was contrary to our line, vision, principles,
and the priority of the struggle against the Zionist en-
emy. Our goal and slogan were always to have all the
guns aimed at the Zionist enemy. Unfortunately, we
were always in a state of self-defense.

According to your experience, how did other factions
perform and how was your relationship with them?

The commander of the Fatah force in the region was
also commander and primary responsible of the joint
Palestinian-Lebanese forces. This meant that you had
to deal with all the forces and factions in your area.
Significantly, you could not put all the units in one
cuff, because they were not ruled by one unified stand-
ard. It all depended on the quality of the leading cadre.
This also applied to the Fatah units. In some cases, we
almost clashed with elements from Fatah due to bad
behavior and excesses.

As far as the factions were concerned, you could
not assess the faction’s behavior based on their ide-
ology or convictions, as everything depended on the
cadre or leader you were dealing with. In Bint Jbeil,
for example, we could not distinguish between the

brigade’s and the Popular Front’s fighters as the re-
gion’s official from PFLP was Maher al-Yamani and
we were in total agreement with him, sharing the
same spirit. I can also pay tribute to the Commu-
nist Action Organization’s faction there and its high
discipline, while we were unable to understand the
cadres of the Democratic Front and the Sa'iqah. In
Nabatiyeh, the subject was different. The Demo-
cratic Front was led by Comrade Ajaj, who was one
of the most disciplined and committed people, as
was the leader of as- Sa’igah there, Comrade Khaled
Azhiman, whose group was able to shoot down an
airplane with a Strela rocket in the 1982 invasion.
But our common understanding with the Popular
front (PFLP) there was at the lowest level. The re-
lationship in the Beqaa and the Mountain with the
Palestinian leader Mamdouh Nawfal was unique, as
it was with his chief of staff, Khaled Abdel Rahim,
and the whole cadre of the Democratic Front, as
well as with Abu Ahmed Fuad and the cadres of the
Popular Front. What I want to say is that positive or
negative individual traits became more important
than organizational affiliation or party and intel-
lectual education, and these traits often controlled
relationships, a phenomenon that must be studied
in the experience of the revolution.

What about the Camp War and the role of Ali Abu
Tawgq in Shatila? When he returned, did he return
to rebuild the safe base, or did he come back to
protect the people in the camps?

In the final phase of our presence in Tripoli, we
established a large work cell led by Ali Abu Tawq
and Marwan Kayali, with the help of a large part
of the Shabab* in the Mountain, the South, Beirut,
and the North. The cell was preparing to transport
weapons and equipment from Tripoli to Beirut and
the South. Even though we were in Tripoli, there
were operations behind enemy lines in Lebanon.

We left Tripoli but kept some groups there. The
main body of the battalion went to Tunisia and Al-
geria, but it was our intention to return to Lebanon
to fight the Zionist enemy, who was still occupying a
large part of southern Lebanon. However, when this
was put forward, there was little response from the
leadership. They feared that our plan would not be
successful and believed that the international and
Arab political situation prevented the re-establish-
ment of an armed Palestinian presence in Lebanon.

The battalion’s cadres made the first steps of the
return. They took the lead and initiated the decision
to return to Lebanon. The goal was clear: to con-

38) Note of the translator: Shabab means “young
men”, It can also mean “comrades”, in militant con-
text.
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front the Zionist enemy and only the Zionist enemy. We
started back in the direction of Cyprus and from there
to Tripoli, then to the rest of the regions. Some of the
brothers returned through Beirut airport in coordina-
tion with the brothers in the Lebanese-Palestinian Re-
sistance and at the forefront of them Imad Mughniyeh.

In the first stage, most of the returnees were cadres
of the battalion, led by Martyrs Marwan, Ali, Ahmed
Montaser and Abu El Feda. Ali Abu Tawq settled in
Saida at this stage. Several operations were carried out
behind the lines of the Zionist enemy. Khalil and Abu
Hamdi were killed in a major clash with the enemy in
the outskirts of Zerariya.

When Abu Ammar felt that our idea was starting to
succeed, he did not wait long. He created the Lebanese
committee to oversee the return of hundreds of cadres
and fighters from various places to the Lebanese arena.

Lebanon, in turn, after 1982, witnessed a very
complex situation: Clashes between all parties even
among those who were in the same ditch during the
last phase. Battles in Tripoli between the Syrian army
and the Tawhid movement ended with Iranian medi-
ation. There were battles between Aoun and Geagea,
then between Aoun and the Syrian army.

In the light of this Arab and Lebanese situation,
the Syrian decision was clear: Holding on to the Leba-
nese file in all its details, even if it meant to forbid any
armed Palestinian presence in Lebanon, even their al-
lies, some of whom were placed under house arrest in
Damascus.

From here began the siege of the camps, or what
was later known as the war of the camps, under the
pretext of ending the influence of Arafat there.

The Shatila camp was sealed by the Amal move-
ment and the sixth brigade of the Lebanese army. Ali
Abu Tawq was forced to attend Shatila. A war of a new
kind began, the war of the camps. I was in that period
in almost daily contact with Ali in Shatila, and Abu
Ammar called me every once and then to ease the ten-
sion between him and Ali. Brother Abu Ammar’s main
concern was to put pressure on the Syrians, and the
camps war gave him good material for that. Ali and I
were striving to stop this war in any way and go back to
southern Lebanon. As for the Syrians, their obsession
was to exclude the Palestinian card from the Lebanese
arena. They did not want it, neither in the camps nor
in the South under any banner, even the banner of
their allies, in the wake of their disagreement with the
Palestinian leadership over the priorities of resolving
the conflict in the Middle East. Abu Ammar was seek-
ing to retrieve his role in Lebanon, while we sought
to return to fight against the Israelis in southern Leb-
anon, and at the same time to find a mechanism to
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protect the situation in the camps and not allow their
collapse.

Ali, in the Shatila camp, performed a legendary
work. After Ali’s death, I learned from Dr. Giannou
that Ali contacted him and told him: “I want you
in the camp because we want to open a field hospi-
tal and a clinic” Dr. Giannou said to the Palestinian
Red Crescent Society: “I want to go to the camp” and
they told him: “But the camp has no potential” Dr. Gi-
annou said to them: “There is Ali Abu Tawq. If Ali is
there, everything becomes possible” And indeed, Dr.
Giannou went and stayed in the camp, aware that he
had a heroic record with us in Nabatiyeh and Tripoli.
He established a hospital in Shatila from nothing, and
there, despite the siege and the mad bombing, Ali took
care of everything: From defense and perseverance to
the provision of medicines, food, milk and diapersX
He was assisted by some of the brothers in Beirut, and
by members of Hezbollah and other Lebanese factions.

Two years ago®, I was in Beirut to participate in
a conference. I decided to visit Maroun al Ras. The
bus that I happened to take carried many young men
and women from Shatila and the other camps, and I
was surprised how, all along the way, they were sing-
ing hymns and songs all about Ali Abu Tawq. Then in
Maroun al-Ras, I was asked to give a public talk about
the first battle in the village in 1978, and so everyone
knew about my relationship with Ali. I asked some of
them, do you know Ali Abu Tawq? They said: No, but
we hear about him from our parents.

From a generation to the next, the word of Abu Ali
was transmitted, a great legend passed on by genera-
tions, not only in Shatila, but in all the places where
we were working. At the beginning of his work in
the organization, Ali Abu Tawq received the mission
of organizing students in high schools in Beirut and
he transformed them within three months. This goes
back to 1975 or 1976. Ali’s personality was unique.
When he was martyred everyone mourned him, from
the youngest child in Shatila, to his companions, or
Brother Abu Ammar, who was attending a summit
when he heard the news and turned the summit into a
eulogy council for the martyr.

Do you happen to know how he died?

Stories around his martyrdom are contradictory: It
was said that he was killed by a shell. The brothers in
Lebanon sent me a video documenting an investiga-
tion with two men saying that they were from the Abu
Khaled al-Amleh group, and that the latter ordered

39) The interview was conducted and first published
in 2013



them to plant a device that was the cause of Ali’s death.
They admitted to placing the device and detonating it.

I watched that tape together with Abu Ammar and
we both agreed at the time that the discussion on this
subject had to stop. There was an almost unified po-
sition in the defense of the camps, even elements of
the “Fatah Intifada” were present inside the camp to
confront Amal movement, regardless of the existence
of pro-Syrian infiltration from time to time. We decid-
ed that talking about this issue could break up or blow
up the Palestinian situation inside the camps, so we
agreed to cover this issue and to leave it to the people
in Lebanon. What happened, truly, I do not know. I
cannot be sure.

The assassination of Dr. Ismet Mourad and Brother
Khalil Akkawi in Tripoli, the assassination of Brother
Samir al-Sheikh in Beirut with his wife and children,
the arrest of dozens of brothers, the bombing and
siege of the camps, the assassination of Sheikh Has-
san Khaled and Kamal Jumblatt and others were clear
messages: if you entered Lebanon, you were under
Syrian direct and sole influence.

There is a Palestinian project and there are people
and forces that want to inherit this project, to car-
ry the banner, namely Iran and Hezbollah on the
one hand, the Muslim Brotherhood and the Hamas
movement on the other. Why did the original Pales-
tinian national project, the “Fatah” project, stop?

The basic flaw remains the inability to turn the Pal-
estinian Revolution into an Arab revolution. We have
not succeeded in turning this effort, invested into the
Palestinian project, into a broader Arab effort, al-
though this was the main idea behind the participation
of many Arab militants in the Palestinian Revolution.
The Palestinian Revolution suffered from the reality
of fragmentation, from regional Arab centers of pow-
er, from the Arab conflicts. The international changes
that led to the dominance of the United States in the
absence of the Russian and Chinese, and European
weakness, also affected it negatively. All these reasons
have led to the decline of the Palestinian revolutionary
project. The most important is the change of the Pal-
estinian strategy from a revolutionary project aimed at
liberating all of Palestine to the strategy of entering a
compromise in an attempt to obtain parts of it.

The emerging Arab revolutionary situation®, or
these new socio-political dynamics in the region, how
do you relate them to the Palestinian national pro-
ject?

Several topics have been raised by the Arab revolu-
tions, and most importantly, the rejection of tyranny,
corruption and the aspiration to freedom, social jus-
tice and transfer of power. There are also important
lessons that we should learn. First and foremost, about

40) The interview was conducted in 2013, the question
refers to the socalled “Arab spring”
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Poster in memory of martyrs from the Student Brigade, Jarmaq battalion. (Unknown photographer.)
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the need to build a broad national front, and reject the
policies of exclusive appropriation of power. Our re-
gion is still in the phase of national liberation, which
requires the mobilization of the majority of the forc-
es to be able to accomplish the tasks of the transition
phase. The party that wins the majority of the votes
at the ballot box has the greater responsibility to mo-
bilize other forces within this front, and to block any
maneuvers of foreign strife or interference. What has
happened gives greater hope to our people that things
never remain the same in the long run, and that the
winds of change and revolution are looming.
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Confrontation with the external enemy gives you
the ability to ensure the unity of the nation and to ad-
dress your other social problems. If you only work on
how to deal with the internal problems, you may as
well sink into the details. This may drain all the efforts
and you lose the priorities. Nothing can help the rev-
olutions of the Arab Spring except indulging more in
the national project, and the national project is based
on confronting the Zionist enemy.



GLOSSARY

Al‘Assifah. Military wing of Fateh, the name means tem-
pest.

Amal. (Regiments of the Lebanese Resistance) was orig-
inally developed as an armed wing of the Movement
of the Disinherited founded by Musa Sadr. In 1980
Nabih Berri became one of the leaders of Amal, mark-
ing the entry of Amal in the Lebanese Civil War. Amal
fought a long campaign against Palestinian refugees
(called the War of the Camps). Later on Amal fought
against rival Shi‘a group Hezbollah which was formed
by religious members of Amal who had left after Nabih
Berri’s assumption of full control and the subsequent
resignation of most of Amal’s earliest members.

Arab Deterrent Force (ADF) was a peacekeeping force
created by the Arab League on the extraordinary Ri-
yadh Summit on October 17-18, 1976, endorsed and
implemented by the Arab League’s Cairo summit on
October 25-26, 1976.

Bar Lev line. A chain of fortifications built by Israel along
the eastern bank of the Suez Canal after it captured
the Sinai Peninsula from Egypt during the June 1967
War. It was considered impregnable and was a symbol
of Israeli military perfection. It was overrun in 1973
by the Egyptian military

Bhamdoun, Battle of. As part of a Syrian offensive against
PLO positions, Bhamdoun was struck by Syrian artil-
lery on October 13, 1976. The bulk of the defenders
from the Joint Forces had withdrawn to Aley by Oc-
tober 14, but 30 members of Fatehs student brigade
formed a new defence line, and Abu Jihad arrived at
midday ordering reinforcements. For Arafat the point
was to check the Syrian advance long enough to allow
sufficient time to mobilize Arab diplomatic interven-
tion for a ceasefire.

Central Sector. A separate operational command in
Fateh of around 300 lightly armed guerrillas in the
Bint Jbail and Qana districts in the central region of
South Lebanon.

Contradiction. As the concept was used by Karl Marx
and later Mao Zedong, usually refers to an opposition
of social forces. Capitalism is internally contradic-
tory because different social classes have conflicting
collective goals. These contradictions stem from the
social structure of society and inherently lead to class
conflict, economic crisis, and eventually the existing
order’s overthrow and the formerly oppressed classes’
ascension to political power. Not all contradictions
are of the same importance. There are secondary con-
tradictions, and the main contradiction. The main or
principal contradiction is the one allowing other con-
tradictions to exist. There is always only one principal
contradiction; however, the contradictions can trade
places of importance. To handle a situation involving
numerous contradictions, it is important to correctly
identify the main contradiction.

Cultural Revolution. A sociopolitical movement in Chi-
na from 1966 until 1976. Launched by Mao Zedong.
Its stated goal was to preserve Chinese Communism
by purging remnants of capitalist and traditional ele-
ments from Chinese society.

Damour. Was a maronite coastal village south of Beirut.
After phalangists had attacked muslim inhabitants in
the coastal slum of east Beirut (Maslakh- Karantina),
expelling the survivors to West Beirut, Lebanese left-
ist groups occupied Damour supported by Palestin-
ians, and drove out the inhabitants, after efforts to
negotiate a deal had failed.

DFLP. Democratic Front for the Liberation of Palestine,
organization within PLO.

Gang of Four. A political faction composed of four Chi-
nese Communist Party officials. They came to prom-
inence during the Cultural Revolution and were later
charged with a series of treasonous crimes.

Geneva Conference of 1973. Was an attempt to negotiate
a solution to the Arab-Israeli conflict as envisioned in
United Nations Security Council Resolution 338 fol-
lowing the called-for cease-fire to end the Yom Kip-
pur War (the Arab-Israeli War October 6-25, 1973).
There was a hope among some UN-members that
some sort of international agreement on the Palestin-
ian problem could be reached. In January 1977 Arafat
declared that PLO was willing to attend the proposed
Geneva Peace Conference. However, attempts in later
years to revive the Conference have failed.

Karameh (Battle of). Village on the East Bank of Jordan
River. The name means dignity. Instead of withdraw-
ing under an Israeli attack on March 21, 1968, Fateh
argued that steadfastness was necessary to dispel the
myth of Israeli invincibility and to raise the morale.
Jordanian and Palestinian fighters resisted in spite of
much smaller forces. They suffered heavy losses, but
the Israelis were forced to withdraw.

Kataeb - the Lebanese Phalanges Party (al-Kata’ib). po-
litical al party in Lebanon. Despite being officially
secular, it is supported mainly by Maronite Catholics.
The party played a major role in the Lebanese Civil
War (1975-90). The party slowly re-emerged in the
early 2000s.

Kfar Shuba (Battle of). Border village in South Lebanon.
The Israeli army carried out a ground operation Jan-
uary 11, 1975, but the local Fateh garrison withstood
repeated Israeli probes. The Lebanese left mobilized
hundreds of volunteers to take part in the battle and
later help the villagers repair their homes.

Lebanese Forces. Christian based political party and for-
mer militia (during the Lebanese Civil War).. Created
in 1976 during the Civil War as an umbrella organi-
zation co-ordinating all the right-wing party militias
of the Lebanese Front, but mainly composed of the
Kataeb Party.
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Lebanese National Movement (LNM). A front of leftist,
communist and panarabist nationalist parties and or-
ganisations, led by Kamal Jumblatt, a prominent Dru-
ze leader. It was active during the Lebanese Civil War,
and supported the PLO.

Lebanese Phalanges Party. See Kataeeb.

Main contradiction. See Contradiction.

Mass Line. Organizational and leadership method devel-
oped by Mao Zedong and the Chinese Communist
Party during the Chinese revolution and later applied
by many communists. The essential is to respect the
masses, consult the masses, interprete their sugges-
tions and enforce the resulting policies.

PFLP. Popular Front for the Liberation of Palestine, or-
ganization within PLO. Second largest after Fateh.
PFLP-GC (General Command). Founded in 1968 by
Ahmed Jibril, Syrian-backed splinter group from the
Popular Front for the Liberation of Palestine (PFLP).

People’s War. A military strategy first developed by Mao
Zedong. The basic concept is to maintain the support
of the population and draw the enemy deep into the
countryside where the population will defeat them
through a mix of mobile warfare and guerrilla war-
fare.

Political commissioner or commissar. A supervisory of-
ficer responsible for the political education (ideolo-
gy) and organization of the unit they are assigned to,
and intended to ensure civilian political control of the
military.

Safe base. The importance of establishing safe bases in
the strategy of guerrilla warfare, was underlined first
by Mao Zedong in China (On Guerilla Warfare) and
later by general Vo Nguyén Gidp in the national liber-
ation war in Viet Nam. It was also mentioned in stra-
tegic documents of Fatah.

Saraaya al Jihad al Islami (The Islamic Jihad Brigades).
Islamist faction formed from within Fateh. Served as
a bridge to the new islamist forces emerging in Pales-
tine in the 1980s.

Social imperialism. According to Soviet leader Vladimir
Lenin, “socialist in words, imperialist in deeds”. Said
by Maoists about the Soviet Union.

South Lebanese Army SLA. Also known as the Haddad
Militia and later the Lahad Militia, was founded in the
late 1970s based on the First Battalion of the Lebanese
army. After Israel’s withdrawal and the end of their
Litani Operation in 1978, the unit was deployed in
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the Bint Jbeil area under the command of Major Saad
Haddad and Major Sami Shediac. Recognized by the
UN as the power in effective control of the territory,
the SLA initially coordinated with Israeli officers and
later operated under almost direct Israeli command
via the Yakal (the Israeli Liaison Unit to Lebanon).

Syrian Social Nationalist Party. Secular nationalist po-
litical party established in Beirut 1932. A branch of
the pan-Syrian Social Nationalist Party. It advocates
subsuming Lebanon into a Greater Syrian nation state
spanning the Fertile Crescent. It was active in the re-
sistance against the Israeli invasion of Lebanon from
1982 to 2000 while continuously supporting the Syri-
an presence in Lebanon.

Tal al-Zaatar (the Hill of Thyme). Palestinian refugee
camp established in 1948 in the northern part of Bei-
rut, with a population of approximately 20 000 in
1976. During the Lebanese Civil War, the camp was
attacked by the Christian militias together with troops
from the Lebanese internal security forces. The mili-
tias laid siege to the refugee camp for 3 months. On
August 12, 1976, the Christian militias gained con-
trol over the camp thanks to support from the Syrian
army The inhabitants of the camp were evicted and a
substantial part of its population was massacred.

Tawhid movement. Lebanese Sunni Muslim organisa-
tion. It plays an active role in Tripoli politics since the
Lebanese Civil War in the 1980s.

Ten-point Program. Was accepted by the Palestinian
National Council (PNC) in Cairo on June 8, 1974. It
called for the establishment of a national authority
“over every part of Palestinian territory that is liber-
ated” with the aim of “completing the liberation of all
Palestinian territory”. This implied that the liberation
of Palestine might be partial (at least, at some stage),
and though it emphasized armed struggle, it allowed
the PLO to engage in diplomatic channels, and pro-
vided validation for future compromises

Verdun operation. On April 10, 1973, poet and PLO
spokesman Kamal Nasser and Fateh leaders Kamal
Adwan and Abu Yussuf Najjar were murdered in their
homes in West Beirut (rue Verdun) by a Mossad as-
sassination squad led by Ehud Barak (later Israeli
prime minister).



PEOPLE MENTIONED IN THE INTERVIEW

Abu Hassan Qassem (Muhammad AI-Bahays). One of
the founders of the Student Brigade. Together with
other Fateh members he later established Saraaya al
Jihad al Islami (brigades of Islamic Jihad). He was
killed by a car bomb in Limassol, Cyprus February
14th 1988 together with Hamdi Tamimi and Marwan
Kayali. The explosive devise had supposedly been
planted by Mossad agents.

Abu Musa (al-Muragha, Said) (1927-2013). Born in Sil-
wan. Joined the Jordanian Army in 1948. Command-
ed an alliance between the PLO and Lebanese mili-
tias, which fought the Syrians when Syria intervened
in the Lebanese Civil War in 1976. In November 1983,
Abu Musa was expelled from the PLO’s military and
formed Fatah Uprising (or Fatah al-Intifada in Ara-
bic) in opposition to Arafat. Supported by the Syri-
ans in military confrontations in Tripoli and Bekaa in
1983 with PLO-forces loyal to Arafat.

Abu Shaar, Jawad. Head of Fateh’s Militia and Fateh Mili-
tary council member in the early 1970s. Killed during
fighting in Beirut on June 8, 1976.

al-Alil, Mahmoud, b. 1950 in Nablus. After the Israeli oc-
cupation of the West Bank in 1967, Alil was arrested
and later expelled to Jordan, where he joined Fatah.
He returned to Nablus in 1995 and became the first
governor of the Nablus governorate when Israeli forc-
es withdrew from the town after the Oslo agreement.
Elected to the Central Committee of Fatah in August
2009, and as Vice Chairman in 2016.

al-Amleh, Abu Khaled. Officer in Jordanian Army who
joined Fateh. Commander in the joint forces of PLO
and the Lebanese National Movement. Key dissident
leader in the two splits that hit Fateh 1983 and 1984.
Secretary general of Fatah al-Intifada.

al-Tamimi, Basim Sultan (Hamdi). One of the founders
of the Student Brigade, and later of Saraaya al-Jihad
al-Islami (he Islamic Jihad Brigades). He worked
closely with abu Hassan Qassem, and was killed in
Cyprus in 1988 together with him and Marwan Kay-
ali.

Allush, Naji. Born in Birzeit in 1935, an early recruit to
Fateh; joined Abu Nidal’s leftist alliance against Yasser
Arafat during Fateh’s Third Congress in Damascus in
1971; Established the Arab People’s Movement as he
left the Fatah Revolutionary Council (Abu Nidal) in
1977. General secretary of the Union of Palestinian
Writers and Journalists. Died in 2012.

‘Assal, George (Abu Khaled). Brother of Munir Shafiq,
one of the founders of the Student Brigade, and of the
main leaders. Commander in the battle of Sannin,
where he was killed (1976).

Chidiac, Sami. Lebanese officer who led the South Leba-
nese Army (SLA) together with Saad Haddad.

Fadl-Allah, Muhammad Hussein (1935-2010). Promi-
nent Shia cleric and Lebanese political leader from a
Lebanese family. Born in Najaf, Iraq, Fadlallah stud-
ied Islam in Najaf before moving to Lebanon in 1952.

In the media Fadlallah was sometimes called the
“spiritual mentor” of Hezbollah.

Fahs, Hani (1946-2014). Prominent Shiite cleric, advisor
to the Palestinian leader Yasser Arafat. Cofounder of
the Arab Committee for the Islamic-Christian Dia-
logue.

Giannou, Chris. Greek-Canadian surgeon (b. 1949).
From 1980 in charge of the PRCS hospital in Na-
bathyie. Head of medical team in Shatila refugee
camp during “Camps War”. He later served as chief
surgeon for the International Committee of the Red
Cross (ICRC). (C. Giannou. Besieged. London 1991,
Bloomsbury Publishing PLC.)

Haddad, Saad (1936-1984). Founder and head of the
South Lebanon Army (SLA) during the Lebanese
Civil War. For years closely collaborating and receiv-
ing arms and political support from Israel against
Lebanese government forces, Hezbollah, and the Syr-
ian Army. Died of cancer in his home in Marjayoun.

Jallud, Abdullah (Abu Dawud). Former Arab Nationalist
Movement cadre and PLA lieutenant 1956—67, Fateh
officer and central committee member.

Jaradat, Saad. Member of Fateh in Jordan 1968-70, depu-
ty head the Jordanian Affairs Bureau. First command-
er of the Student Brigade. Killed in Ras al Nabaa (Bei-
rut) June 26, 1976 during a fight with the phalangists.

Kayali, Marwan. Deputy commander of the Student Bri-
gade when Muin Taher took over leadership. Killed
in Cyprus in 1988 together with abu Hassan Qassem
and Hamdi Tamimi.

Khalaf, Salah Mesbah (Abu Iyad) (1933-1991). Deputy
chief and head of intelligence for the Palestine Libera-
tion Organization, and the second most senior official
of Fatah after Yasser Arafat.

Mikhail, Hanna (Abu Omar) (1935-1976). Born in
Ramallah, Palestine. Ph.D in Political Science from
Harvard University. Taught at Princeton University
and University of Washington Seattle - USA. In 1969
Hanna joined the Palestinian Resistance Movement
in Jordan. Moved to Beirut in 1971, worked at the Pal-
estinian Research Centre and the Planning Centre. In
July 1976 Abu Omar and nine of his comrades and
two sailors disappeared while on their way by sea to
the besieged Palestinian camps in Northern Lebanon.
The French writer Jean Genet mentions Abu Omar
frequently in his book Un Captif Amoureux (Prisoner
of love).

Mourad, Ismat (Dr. Mourad). Militant of Fateh and the
Student Brigade.

Mughniyeh, Imad Fayez (1962-2008). Was active in co-
ordinating the resistance inside and outside Palestine.
Became number two in Hezbollah’s leadership, un-
derstood to have overseen Hezbollah’s military, intel-
ligence, and security apparatuses.

Naccache, Anis. Born in Beirut, Lebanon 1951. In 1982,
he was sentenced in France to life in prison for at-
tempting to kill the old prime minister of Iran, Sha-
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pour Bakhtiar. Released and extradited in 1990. He
later became a geopolitical analyst in Lebanon

Omar, Mahjoub (Ra’uf Nazmi) (1932-2012) Egyptian
medical doctor, intellectual and militant, joined Fateh
after the June 1967 war. Served as Deputy director of
the PLO Planning centre in Beirut. The French writ-
er Jean Genet met Dr. Mahjoub in Jordan when he
stayed with the resistance there and mentions him in
his book Un Captif Amoureux (Prisoner of love).

Qabalan, Abdul Amir (Mufti al-Jaafari al-Mumtaz).
High level Shia cleric. Head of Lebanon’s Supreme Is-
lamic Shiite Council.

Raslan, Hilal (Abu Mahmoud). Former Syrian ambassa-
dor to Beijing. Joined the Student Brigade with oth-
ers from “the mountain group” who were planning
to establish a Lebanese-Arabic communist party on
a Maoist basis.

Sadr, Musa. Born 1928. Lebanese Iranian philosopher
and Shi’a religious leader. Founded the Movement of
the Disinherited in 1974 to press for better economic
and social conditions for the disadvantaged Shia pop-

ulation of Lebanon. Attempted to prevent the descent
into violence that eventually led to the Lebanese Civ-
il War. During the war, he aligned himself with the
Lebanese National Movement. Disappeared in Libya
in 1978. His legacy is revered by both Amal and Hez-
bollah followers.

Shafiq, Munir (Abu Fadi). Born 1936 in Jerusalem in a
Christian family. Member of the Jordanian Commu-
nist Party until 1965 and spent several years in Jorda-
nian prison. Joined Fateh in the early 1970s as a Pal-
estinian - Arab nationalist and leftist. In 1973 he was
one of the founders of the Student Brigade in Fateh.
Served as director of the PLO Planning centre in Bei-
rut. Together with other members of the Brigade he
later turned to Islam as reference for both political
and personal orientation. General coordinator of the
Nationalist-Islamic Congress, which unites and coor-
dinates the majority of Arab and Islamic nationalist
organisations.

Ubaryand, Nazir. Militant of Fateh and the Student Bri-
gade.

PLACES MENTIONED IN THE INTERVIEW

Lebanon is divided into governorates (mohafazah), districts (caza) and municipalities.

Aintoura. Town and municipality in the Mount Lebanon
Governorate, 18 kilometers north of Beirut. Its inhab-
itants are predominantly Maronite Christians.

Aynata. Village in South Lebanon. During the war with
Israel in 2006, about 60 % of the homes in the town
were destroyed. The family home of Mohammad
Hussein Fadlallah.

Bhamdoun. See Glossary.

Beit Lif. Village in the Bint Jbeil District in southern Leb-
anon.

Bint Jbeil. Large town in south Lebanon, administrative
centre within the Nabatieh governorate.

Borj Shamali. Municipality near Tire city, with a large
refugee camp (25 000 inhabitants in 2018) which
was established in 1948 to provide for refugees from
Palestine. The camp is situated at the beginning of a
main road to the South.

Jabal Al Arab. Also known as Jabal al-Druze (Mountain
of the Druze). Elevated volcanic region in the As-Su-
wayda Governorate of southern Syria. Most of the in-
habitants of this region are Druze, but there are also
small Sunni Muslim and Christian communities.

Jounieh. City north of Beirut, population mainly Chris-
tians, stronghold of the Christian tight wing.

Jwaya or Jouaiya. Village in Tire district, Lebanon. Locat-
ed geographically in the center of Jabal Amel (or Jabal
Amil), 95 kilometers south of Beirut.

Kahale. Mountain village in the district of Aley, 13 km
from Beirut. Population estimated at 13,000 resi-
dents, all of whom are Maronite Catholic.

Karameh. See Glossary.

Kaslik. Maronite town in the Mount Lebanon Governo-
rate, north of Beirut.
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Kfar Shuba. See Glossary.

Kunin. Municipality located in Bint Jbeil District, south-
east of Tebnine.

Masyaf. City in northwestern Syria, approximately 40
kilometers to the west of Hama. A religiously diverse
population of 22 000 Ismailis, Alawites and Chris-
tians (2004).

Rabb Talatin. Village in the Marjeyoun District of Naba-
tiyeh Governorate in southern Lebanon.

Rachaf or Rchaf. Village in the Bint Jbeil District of the
Nabatieh Governorate of Southern Lebanon, 16 kilo-
metres from the Israel-Lebanon border.

Rmeish. Village located in the District of Bint Jbeil, near
the Lebanese-Israeli border.

Saadnayel. A town in the Bekaa Valley in the Zahlé Dis-
trict of Lebanon.

Saida (Arabic) or Sidon. The third-largest city in Leb-
anon, with about 80 000 inhabitants within the city
limits and more than a quarter-million in the sur-
rounding area.

Sidon. See Saida.

Sofar. Small village situated next to the main road linking
Beirut with Damascus.

Sour (Arabic) or Tire, Tyr. One of the oldest continual-
ly inhabited cities in the world, today the fifth largest
city in Lebanon. It is the capital of the Tire District
in the South Governorate. Approximately 200 000 in-
habitants (2016) including many refugees.

Taalabaya. Town in the Bekaa valley.

Tire, Tyr. See Sour.

Zerariya. Village near Saida.
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